Pulping Borneo

Deforestation in the RGE Group's supply chain and RGE's hidden links to a new mega-scale pulp mill in North Kalimantan, Indonesia

May 2023













Citation

Environmental Paper Network et al. 2023. *Pulping Borneo: Deforestation in the RGE Group's supply chain and RGE's hidden links to a new mega-scale pulp mill in North Kalimantan, Indonesia*. May 2023.

Environmental Paper Network et al. 2023. Babat Kalimantan: Deforestasi di rantai pasok Royal Golden Eagle (RGE Group) dan kaitan RGE dengan pabrik pulp baru di Kalimantan Utara. Mei 2023.

Acknowledgment

The organizations publishing this report would like to thank TheTreeMap for providing imagery based on the Nusantara Atlas data that clearly distinguishes between pre- and post-2016 deforestation.

Disclaimer

This report has been prepared based on publicly available information and data obtained from numerous sources as cited. No independent verification of the sources cited has been undertaken, and where the authors express any opinion, it is the authors' opinion only and is not intended as specific advice to any particular party or person. This report does not allege, and should not be construed to allege, that any of the companies or individuals named in this report have committed legal or regulatory violations in Indonesia or any other jurisdiction.

Eleven parties – The Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Group, Asia Symbol, APRIL, APRIL's Stakeholder Advisory Committee, KPMG, the Forest Stewardship Council, PT Phoenix Resources International, PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, PT Adindo Hutani Lestari, PT Industrial Forest Plantation, and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya – were delivered the findings of this report prior to the report's publication. Their responses, if received, are summarized in the report's text and published, in full, in the report's appendices.

The organizations publishing this report are Yayasan Auriga Nusantara, Environmental Paper Network, Greenpeace International, Woods & Wayside International, and Rainforest Action Network.

Front and back cover photos are of recent deforestation in PT Industrial Forest Plantation's concession area that were taken in October 2022. Source: Fajar Sandhika/Auriga Nusantara.



Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License



Pulping Borneo

Deforestation in the RGE Group's supply chain and RGE's hidden links to a new mega-scale pulp mill in North Kalimantan, Indonesia

May 2023



Contents

Executive Summary
Introduction
Methods and Data
Geo-spatial remote sensing
Supply chain tracking
Mapping of corporate structures7
Royal Golden Eagle Group – Overview8
RGE's operations in the pulp, paper, and viscose sectors
RGE's operations in the palm oil sector9
RGE and APRIL's "No Deforestation" commitments and sustainability policies
The Forest Stewardship Council's assessment of harm and future monitoring for APRIL and the RGE Group
Controversial wood supply to RGE's Asia Symbol mill14
Wood suppliers to the PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari woodchip mill
Deforestation in wood supplier concession areas14
Woodchip shipments to RGE's Asia Symbol mill in China
RGE corporate links to PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari
The Phoenix pulp mill project in Tarakan, North Kalimantan
Pulp mill plan and initial local impacts
PT Phoenix Resources International's corporate structure and links to RGE
Projected wood requirement
Deforestation risk in Kalimantan and Papua
Conclusion
Recommendations
Appendix A. Response to findings from Asia Symbol
Appendix B. Response to findings from APRIL
Appendix C. Response to findings from APRIL's Stakeholder Advisory Committee (SAC)
Appendix D. Response to findings from KPMG Canada61
Appendix E. Response to findings from the Forest Stewardship Council
Appendix F. Parties presented with findings that did not provide comment65

List of figures, tables, and boxes

Figure 1. Map of RGE-linked forestry concessions, PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, and PT Phoenix Resources International 2
Box 1. Reported sources of financing for RGE10
Figure 2. Excerpts from the RGE Group and APRIL's sustainability policies
Figure 3. Excerpt from Asia Symbol's 2020–21 sustainability report12
Figure 4. Locations of the PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari woodchip mill and its reported wood suppliers in 2021 and 2022 15
Figure 5. Clearance of natural forests detected inside the concession area of PT Industrial Forest Plantation, 2016–2022 16
Figure 6. Photo taken in October 2022 of PT Industrial Forest Plantation's HTI concession area in Central Kalimantan 17
Figure 7. Orangutan in Central Kalimantan at the Orangutan Foundation International Care Center
Figure 8. Clearance of natural forests detected inside the HTI concession area of PT Adindo Hutani Lestari, 2016–2022 18
Figure 9. Photo taken in October 2020 of PT Adindo Hutani Lestari's concession area in North Kalimantan
Figure 10. Piles of acacia logs are loaded on a barge at a log pond inside PT Adindo Hutani Lestari's pulpwood concession in North Kalimantan in January 2015, prior to RGE and APRIL's 2015 "No Deforestation" commitments
Figure 11. Clearance of natural forests detected inside the HTI concession area of PT Fajar Surya Swadaya in East Kalimantan, 2016–2022
Figure 12. RGE-owned Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp and Paper Mill in Rizhao, China.
Table 1. Export of woodchips reported from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari to Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp & Paper, 2021–2022. 22
Figure 13. MV Batavia Express, described by its corporate owner as the largest woodchip carrier in the world
Table 2. Woodchip carriers that transported shipments of woodchips from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari in East Kalimantan, Indonesia to Asia Symbol in Rizhao, China during June 2021–January 2023. 23
Figure 14. Vessel route in October 2022 of MV Eagle Express, one of a dozen woodchip carriers that transported woodchips from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari in East Kalimantan, Indonesia to Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp & Paper in Rizhao, China between June 2021 and January 2023, according to vessel tracking data
Figure 15. The "Contact" webpages for Nova Shipping and APRIL showing common address, phone number, and fax number
Figure 16. Excerpt from the Accountability Framework Initative's definition of terms
Figure 17. The office where PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari's direct shareholders are registered is on the 6th Floor, Plaza First Nationwide in Kuala Lumpur
Figure 18. Corporate shareholder structure of PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, as of February 2023
Figure 19. Map showing locations of PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, PT Kutai Refinery Nusantara, and PT Kalimantan Prima Services Indonesia
Figure 20. Excerpt from Apical's webpage
Figure 21. Excerpt from APRIL's Stakeholder Advisory 2016 meeting notes regarding PT Kutai Chip Mill's wood supply to Asia Symbol. 29
Figure 22. Excerpt from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari's corporate profile obtained from the Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Government of Indonesia
Figure 23. LinkedIn profile of Hery Susanto, former Senior Financial Controller for RGE

Figure 24. Excerpt from PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk's 2019 Annual Report
Figure 25. LinkedIn profile of a "Senior Project Controller" at Kalimantan Fiber
Figure 26. LinkedIn profile for former BCL Commissioner and former PT Kutai Chip Mill woodchip mill coordinator33
Figure 27. Status updates on PT Phoenix Resources International's environmental impact assessment report35
Figure 28. Construction site of PT Phoenix Resources International in Tarakan, North Kalimantan in December 2022 35
Figure 29. High-resolution satellite imagery of Phoenix mill's site development in Tarakan, North Kalimantan from January 2022 until February 2023
Figure 30. Trucks transporting landfill to the construction site of PT Phoenix International Resources in December 2022 36
Figure 31. Road closure sign near the Phoenix mill construction site in Tarakan
Figure 32. Corporate shareholders of PT Phoenix Resources International incorporated in Malaysia and the Cayman Islands, as of February 2023
Figure 33. PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari and PT Phoenix Resources international have a common Commissioner
Figure 34. Current Director of PT Phoenix Resources International is a former Director of PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari and a former employee of PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk
Figure 35. Common Directors of PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari corporate shareholders in Malaysia
Figure 36. Chew Chong Pan's relationship to PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari41
Figure 37. Malaysian corporate shareholders of PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari shared a "registered" office and currently share a "business" office
Figure 38. Registered address for the corporate shareholders of both PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari in 2021 at Wisma Kwong Siew in Kuala Lumpur
Figure 39. "Business address" of the corporate shareholders of both PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, as of February 2023
Figure 40. Photos of PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari's office location in Kuala Lumpur
Figure 41. Shareholders, corporate officials and addresses related to PT Tarakan Chip Mill at present and historically46
Figure 42. PT Phoenix Resources International's corporate structure and links to PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari and the RGE Group
Table 3. Projected pulpwood requirement of PT Phoenix Resources International's Tarakan pulp mill, 2024–203248
Figure 43. In May 2014, excavators worked near a recently deforested area in the concession area of PT Riau Andalan Pulp & Paper, APRIL's largest wood supplier, in Riau Province
Figure 44. Map of RGE-linked forestry concessions, PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, and Phoenix pulp mill
Figure 45. Map of remaining natural forest inside the concession of PT Kesatuan Mas Abadi
Figure 46. Map of remaining natural forest inside the concession of PT Damai Setiatama Timber
Figure 47. Map of remaining natural forest inside the concession of PT Mukti Artha Yoga



Executive Summary

Despite its well-publicized commitment to "No Deforestation", Indonesia's Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Group, one of the world's largest pulp and paper companies, still has deforestation in its pulp supply chain. RGE is also now linked to a new mega-scale pulp mill under construction in northeast Kalimantan, Indonesia which is expected to threaten some of the world's largest tropical rainforests.

This report aims to raise awareness about the risks that RGE's current and planned operations pose for rainforest destruction in Kalimantan and Papua. The findings of this report should caution RGE's customers, financiers, certification bodies, as well as local communities, civil society, consumers of RGE products, and the broader public about its controversial wood suppliers and risky pulp mill expansion plans. The manner in which corporate structuring in offshore jurisdictions obscures RGE's involvement in these controversial operations should raise further concerns.

RGE, through its companies Sateri and Asia Pacific Rayon, is the world's largest producer of viscose, a material made from dissolving wood pulp which is used in the manufacture of synthetic textiles for clothing and other products. RGE is also a leading producer in the global pulp, paper and packaging sectors through its subsidiaries Asia Pacific Resources International Limited (APRIL) in Indonesia, Asia Symbol in China, and Bracell in Brazil.

This investigation reveals that RGE's pulp mill in China has been using wood from companies that have recently cleared large tracts of tropical rainforest in Kalimantan, Indonesia's territory on the island of Borneo. Much of the rainforest, before it was destroyed, was habitat for endangered Bornean orangutans, according to data published by Indonesia's Ministry of Environment and Forestry.

Evidence presented in this report has been obtained through analysis of satellite imagery, and the review of shipment-level trade data, vessel tracking reports and supplier disclosure data. The investigation found that in 2021 and 2022, Asia Symbol's pulp and paper mill in Rizhao, China, received wood from companies in Borneo that cleared tropical rainforest via PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, a woodchip mill in Kalimantan linked to RGE. Since June 2015, when RGE's Forestry, Fibre, Pulp & Paper Sustainability Framework – which prohibits deforestation – took effect, suppliers to this woodchip mill have cleared 37,105 ha of natural forest in Central, East, and North Kalimantan according to Nusantara Atlas, amounting to an area over half the size of Singapore.

Neither of the parties responsible for monitoring APRIL's implementation of its own sustainability policies – namely, its Stakeholder Advisory Committee (SAC) and the global accounting firm KPMG – has publicly reported this deforestation in the RGE supply chain. Both the SAC and KPMG issue regular reports on APRIL's sustainability performance in the pulp sector. In response to the findings of this report, both SAC and KPMG denied it was their responsibility to monitor and report on the activities of RGE Group companies other than APRIL. One of the SAC's co-chairs, Dr. Jeffrey Sayer, responded that most of the issues raised "fall outside of the SAC mandate, but they are none the less of interest and we will continue to review them at our future meetings. The issues will be on the agenda for our face to face meeting in June of this year." KPMG responded, "The scope of our assessment does not include the broader RGE Group or other mills."

This investigation examined corporate records to document RGE's links to a new mega-scale pulp mill – which is currently under construction on the island of Tarakan in northeastern Kalimantan – through its connections to the reported owner of the mill, PT Phoenix Resources International. The Phoenix pulp mill is reportedly designed to produce semi-chemical pulp, and according to the project's Environmental Impact Assessment, the mill will have two production lines and a total pulp capacity of 1.7 million tons/year. Once it is fully operational, the mill is projected to consume at least 3.3 million green metric tons (GMT) of wood fiber on an annual basis.

The Phoenix pulp mill will place new pressures on natural forests in Indonesia, as the mill's demand for wood fiber is likely to drive the development of large areas of monoculture pulpwood plantations. Forest areas most directly at risk include those within forestry concessions currently supplying BCL in the provinces of North, East, and Central Kalimantan and those linked to RGE companies in South Papua and West Papua. Spatial analysis using satellite imagery identifies over 600,000 hectares of standing tropical rainforest within seven timber and plantation concessions.

Figure 1. Map of RGE-linked forestry concessions, PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, and PT Phoenix Resources International.



Source: Forest layer from C. Vancutsem, F. Achard, J.-F. Pekel, G. Vieilledent, S. Carboni, D. Simonetti, J. Gallego, L.E.O.C. Aragão, R. Nasi. 2021. "Long-term (1990–2019) monitoring of forest cover changes in the humid tropics." *Science Advances*. <u>https://forobs.jrc.ec.europa.eu/TMF/</u>.

As the Phoenix pulp mill is under construction in North Kalimantan, RGE-controlled APRIL is reportedly expanding its flagship pulp and paper mill operated by PT Riau Andalan Pulp & Paper in central Sumatra. The expansion of the Riau Andalan mill complex will reportedly increase the mill's pulp production capacity by over 50% from its current level of 3.0 million tons/year, according to the Environmental Impact Assessment for the project. This implies that Riau Andalan's annual wood fiber demand will increase correspondingly from its current level of approximately 14 million cubic meters to as much as 21 million cubic meters.

So far, APRIL has not adequately explained how it will increase pulpwood production to meet the additional wood fiber demand without driving further deforestation and conversion of natural forests and peatlands to pulpwood plantations. The Forests & Finance coalition has warned that this expansion of the mill's pulp

production capacity will increase the risks of deforestation, social conflict, and fires which result in haze and greenhouse gas emissions.

The findings of this report also highlight the role that complex corporate structures play in hiding who actually controls and benefits from companies that are destroying Indonesia's rainforests. RGE claims to apply a "No Deforestation" standard to all companies under its control and their suppliers. APRIL issues regular reports on the implementation of this standard by a set of companies which RGE officially acknowledges to be part of APRIL. However, the evidence presented in this report shows that RGE and its affiliates are also linked to an extensive network of companies, across numerous jurisdictions, which RGE does not publicly acknowledge as being controlled by, or affiliated with, APRIL or the RGE Group. This network of companies includes multiple layers of shell companies domiciled in offshore financial centers like the British Virgin Islands and the Cayman Islands, where ownership structures are hidden from public scrutiny.

In the cases of PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari and PT Phoenix Resources International, this set of companies seemingly escapes the application of RGE's sustainability policies, while appearing to be critical parts of the group's rapidly expanding business operations. And as the deforestation that continues to exist in RGE's supply chain demonstrates, the risks posed by the development of a mega-scale pulp mill in northeast Kalimantan are alarming.

RGE was presented with the findings of the report prior to publication, but did not respond to a request for comment. Asia Symbol expressed concern over the findings, acknowledging PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari as a supplier, and indicated it would investigate the situation. APRIL responded that the company's no deforestation commitments apply to all areas where it operates, that it has increased plantation yield and mill efficiency in recent years, and that it had not violated its 2015 sustainability commitments. Neither RGE nor APRIL responded to the allegation that a company under common control with RGE and APRIL is building a new mega-scale pulp mill in Borneo.



Introduction

Since June 2015, the Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Group – the world's largest producer of viscose and a leading producer of pulp, paper, and packaging products – has committed to a policy of "No Deforestation" in its supply chain.¹ This policy is part of a broader Sustainability Framework, in which RGE also commits to "Responsible Management of Peatlands" and "Respect [for] the Rights of Indigenous Peoples and Communities," among other measures. A similar set of sustainability policies has been adopted by Asia Pacific Resources International Ltd (APRIL), RGE's subsidiary which oversees its pulp and paper operations in Indonesia;² and by Asia Symbol, which coordinates RGE pulp and paper production in China.³

In adopting these policies, RGE – together with APRIL and Asia Symbol – has promoted an image of being a "global leader in sustainability."⁴ The group has sought to use this image to move beyond a long legacy of environmental harm and social conflict, particularly associated with its pulp production and plantation development activities in Indonesia. For over two decades beginning in the mid-1990s, RGE and APRIL were heavily criticized by civil society organizations (CSO's) for clearing hundreds of thousands of hectares of natural forest to provide wood fiber for their pulp mills and to develop large areas of monoculture plantations.⁵ A significant portion of the areas cleared by RGE and APRIL were carbon-rich, forested peatlands, which subsequently contributed to the catastrophic fires and haze which Indonesia experienced in 2015 and 2019.⁶ RGE and APRIL have also been embroiled in conflicts with scores of local and indigenous communities living in and around their forest plantation concessions, according to CSO reports, many of which remain unresolved.⁷

Despite RGE's group-wide commitment to eradicate deforestation in its supply chain, there is compelling evidence that some RGE companies have purchased wood from suppliers which have cleared natural forests after the June 2015 cut-off date. The present study uses analysis of satellite imagery from Nusantara Atlas to document over 37,000 hectares (ha) of deforestation during the period 2016–2022 in three forest plantation

¹ RGE. 2015. "Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Forestry, Fibre, Pulp & Paper Sustainability Framework." June 2 (updated April 25, 2022). rgei.com/sustainability/sustainability-framework. https://www.rgei.com/images/pdf/RGE-Sustainability-Framework-English.pdf.

² APRIL. 2015. "APRIL Group's Sustainable Forest Management Policy 2.0." June 3, 2015. <u>https://www.aprilasia.com/en/sustainability/sustainability-policy/sfmp-2-0</u>.

³ Asia Symbol. 2015. "Wood and Pulp Sourcing Policy." Issued December 8, 2015 (updated September 28, 2017 and November 18, 2020). https://www.asiasymbol.com/en/sustainability/wood-pulp-sourcing-policy.

⁴ For example, see RGE. 2022. "RGE highlights path to sustainability feadership in Northwestern University Kellogg School of Management podcast." Press release, December 21, 2022. <u>https://www.rgei.com/attachments/article/1853/RGE%20Highlights%20</u> Path%20to%20Sustainability%20Leadership%20in.pdf.

For example, see Eyes on the Forest. 2012. Asia Pacific Resources International Limited (APRIL): Riau, Sumatra's biggest forest pulper 2009 to 2012. Investigative report, December 2012. http://www.eyesontheforest.or.id/uploads/default/report/Eyes-on-the-Forest-Investigative-Report-APRIL-Riau-Sumatras-biggest-forest-pulper-2019-to-2012.pdf.
 Eyes on the Forest. 2014. APRIL/RGE Continues Deforestation: PT RAPP operations violate government regulations and its own sustainability policy in Pulau Padang, Riau, Sumatra. Investigative report, November 20, 2014. https://files.worldwildlife.org/wwfcmsprod/files/Publication/file/4e5wruhgai_APRIL_RGE_report_November_2014.pdf.

⁶ Koalisi Anti Mafia Hutan, et al. 2019. Perpetual Haze: Pulp production, peatlands, and the future of fire risk in Indonesia. Jakarta, Indonesia, November 2019. https://www.ran.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Perpetual-Haze.pdf.

⁷ Environmental Paper Network et al. 2019. *Conflict Plantations: Revealing APRIL's trail of disputes across Indonesia*. November 2019. https://environmentalpaper.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/APRIL-social-conflicts-mapping.pdf.

concessions in Kalimantan which have supplied a woodchip mill operated by PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, a company with corporate links to the RGE Group. Analysis of shipment-level export data and vessel tracking information further shows that over 500,000 bone-dry tons (BDT) of woodchips produced by PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari were purchased by Asia Symbol to supply its pulp mill in Rizhao, China during 2021 and 2022. Two of the three suppliers with deforestation in their concessions after June 2015 have also shipped significant volumes of wood to APRIL's flagship mill, PT Riau Andalan Pulp & Paper, in Kerinci, Riau Province, as recently as 2022.

RGE was presented with the findings of the present report, but did not respond to a request for comment prior to publication. Asia Symbol expressed concern over the findings, acknowledging PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari as a supplier, and indicated it would investigate the situation. APRIL responded that the company's no deforestation commitments apply to all areas where it operates, that it has increased plantation yield and mill efficiency in recent years, and that it had not violated its 2015 sustainability commitments.

The threats that the RGE Group poses to the forests of Borneo, and other forested regions of Indonesia, are hardly limited to the wood supply chains of the group's existing pulp mills. This report documents links between RGE and PT Phoenix Resources International, an Indonesia-registered company which is building a mega-scale pulp mill on Tarakan Island in North Kalimantan Province. According to the project's Environmental Impact Assessment, the Phoenix mill will produce 1.7 million tons/year of semi-chemical pulp when it is fully operational, consuming approximately 3.3 million green metric tons (GMT) of wood fiber on an annual basis.

It can reasonably be expected that the Phoenix mill will drive the development of large new areas of monoculture pulpwood plantations, thereby placing new pressures on natural forests in RGE supplier concessions. Through analysis of satellite imagery, the study documents over 600,000 ha of standing tropical rainforest within forestry concessions in North, East, and Central Kalimantan that supply PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari and in a plantation concession and two selective logging concessions held by RGE-linked companies in South Papua and West Papua. It is argued that the development of the Phoenix mill – together with planned capacity expansion at PT Riau Andalan Pulp & Paper in Kerinci, Riau Province – could put portions of these forests at immediate risk.

Given these risks, a summary of the report's findings were shared with APRIL's Stakeholder Advisory Committee (SAC) – a group of six individuals including World Resource Institute's Director of Forests and a former Director General of Indonesia's Ministry of Environment and Forestry – and the global accounting firm KPMG, which monitors APRIL's adherence to its sustainability commitments. However, both SAC and KPMG responded that their respective mandates are limited to monitoring the fiber supply chain for APRIL's Kerinci mill and that the scope of their assessments does not include the broader RGE Group or other mills.

The aim of the report is to raise awareness of specific and documented risks associated with the RGE Group, which until now have not been clearly articulated in the public domain. These risks are apparently going unmonitored by the bodies that RGE-subsidiary APRIL has established to assure financiers, customers, government bodies, and the broader public that its own operations in Indonesia are consistent with the company's sustainability commitments. This report does not allege, and should not be construed to allege, that any of the companies or individuals named in this report have committed legal or regulatory violations in Indonesia or any other jurisdiction. It does raise serious concerns that warrant greater scrutiny and enhanced due diligence from government authorities, financiers, consumer brands, forest-product certification bodies, as well as local communities, civil society, consumers of APRIL products, and the broader public.



Methods and Data

This report relies on three main types of data and analysis: geo-spatial remote sensing, supply chain tracking, and mapping of corporate structures.

GEO-SPATIAL REMOTE SENSING

The spatial analysis has been conducted by TheTreeMap for the Nusantara Atlas and is used with TheTreeMap's permission. Nusantara Atlas "tracks deforestation annually over two decades, to calculate the past deforestation footprint of companies and creates the clearest picture of the relationship between the loss of natural forests (deforestation) and the development of plantations by linking maps of plantations expansion and associated forest conversion with updated concession maps."

To achieve this monitoring of forests and plantation development, Nusantara Atlas "brings satellite images (Planet/ NICFI, Sentinel-2, Landsat, NOAA-20, S-NPP, Aqua and Terra), near-real-time deforestation alerts (RADD; GLAD), fire hotspots (VIIRS and MODIS) and rich cadastral information in one space." The deforestation data for 2001 to 2021 in Nusantara Atlas are based on a corrected version of the annual Tree Loss dataset (v.1.8) developed by Hansen et al. (2013), and a base map of forest cover from Gaveau et al. (2021) for Papua⁸ and from Margono et al. (2014) for the rest of Indonesia.⁹ The corrections made to Hansen's data are described in Gaveau et al. (2021 and 2022).¹⁰ The 2022 deforestation update in the concessions was done by delineating the boundaries of new plantations using Planet images and visual, expert-based interpretation methods inside maps of pulpwood concessions.

The producer of Nusantara Atlas, TheTreeMap, is recognized as a leader in the field of forest monitoring platforms. Moreover, Nusantara Atlas is a publicly-accessible platform, so it allows easy and free access to the geospatial images and analysis contained in this report. For the present study, Nusantara Atlas was used to calculate the area of deforestation, during the period 2016–2022, within the concession boundaries of nine forestry companies in Kalimantan known to have supplied wood to PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari during 2021–2022. In addition, Nusantara Atlas was used to calculate the area of natural forest cover, as of January 1, 2023, within the plantation concessions of these nine wood suppliers to PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari and a forest plantation concession and two selective logging concessions in Papua and West Papua, which are affiliated with the RGE Group.

SUPPLY CHAIN TRACKING

The supply chain analysis incorporates mill-level wood supply data, together with export records and shipping vessel routes. The wood supply data is from official Indonesian government records of timber used

⁸ Gaveau, David et al. 2021. "Forest loss in Indonesian New Guinea (2001–2019): Trends, drivers and outlook." *Biological Conservation*, 261, 109225, September 2021. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0006320721002779.

⁹ Margono, Belinda, et al. 2014. "Primary forest cover loss in Indonesia over 2000–2012." *Nature Climate Change*, June 29, 2014. https://www.nature.com/articles/nclimate2277.

¹⁰ Gaveau, David et al. 2021. "Forest loss in Indonesian New Guinea (2001–2019): Trends, drivers and outlook." *Biological Conservation*, 261, 109225, September 2021. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0006320721002779</u>. Gaveau, David et al. 2022. "Slowing deforestation in Indonesia follows declining oil palm expansion and lower oil prices." *Plos One*

Gaveau, David et al. 2022. "Slowing deforestation in Indonesia follows declining oil palm expansion and lower oil prices." *Plos One* 17, e0266178, March 29, 2022. <u>https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0266178</u>.

by individual wood processing industries (*Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu*). For the analysis of woodchip production by PT Kutai Chipmill and, after the company changed names in December 2019, PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, these records provide the names of wood suppliers and the volumes of wood provided by each supplier during a particular year.

The Indonesia export records were obtained from a commercial trade data provider, and for each shipment, these records include the names of the exporter and importer, the ports where the goods were loaded and unloaded, the weight and value of the goods, and the name of the vessel. This data was cross-checked with official government export records, available through the information system on legality certification for wood products (*Sistem Verifikasi Legalitas Kayu*) maintained by Indonesia's Ministry of Environment and Forestry. The historical vessel routes were obtained from a commercial data provider in the form of time-stamped GPS coordinates documenting the location of a specific commercial shipping vessel at a particular point in time.

MAPPING OF CORPORATE STRUCTURES

The analysis of corporate structures for PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, PT Phoenix Resources International, and other operating companies mentioned in this report is based on a review of corporate profiles published by the Directorate General of Public Law and Administration (*Direktorat Jenderal Administrasi Hukum Umum*), in the Government of Indonesia's Ministry of Law and Human Rights (*Kementerian Hukum dan Hak Asasi Manusia*). These profiles include lists of shareholders, directors, and commissioners for each of the companies domiciled in Indonesia.

For each corporate entity, the composition of shareholders, directors, and commissioners was analyzed to identify potential links to APRIL and/or the RGE Group. In cases where equity in one company is held by another corporate entity, the ownership and officers of that holding company were analyzed to identify such links. The names of commissioners and directors for each of the entities analyzed were cross-referenced with the names of individuals who have been reported to serve (either currently or in the past) as shareholders, corporate officers, or employees of APRIL, RGE, their operating companies, and /or other companies affiliated with APRIL or RGE. It must be acknowledged that multiple individuals could hypothetically have the same name, particularly in the case of common names. When possible, birthdates have been matched between corporate registry documents and other sources to minimize the chances of mixing up individuals who have the same name.

To guide this report's determinations of corporate control, the definition of "corporate group" from the Accountability Framework Initiative was used: "The totality of legal entities to which the company is affiliated in a relationship in which either party controls the actions or performance of the other."¹¹ The Forest Stewardship Council, in December 2022, adopted this understanding of corporate control into its Policy for Association.¹² RGE, in April 2022, acknowledged the Accountability Framework Initiative's definition of "corporate group", "as part of its commitment to align with industry frameworks for ethical supply chains."¹³

To establish a commonly-accepted approach of applying the Accountability Framework Initiative's definition of "corporate group", a methodology to establish common corporate control was recently published by Greenpeace International in collaboration with other advocacy and research organizations.¹⁴ A number of the techniques used in this report's corporate structure analysis are documented in this methodology document.

¹¹ Accountability Framework Initiative. 2023. "Definitions." Webpage, accessed in March 2023. https://accountability-framework.org/ the-framework/contents/definitions/.

¹² The Forest Stewardship Council. 2022. Policy for Association Version 3. FSC-POL-01-004. https://connect.fsc.org/document-centre/ documents/resource/368.

¹³ RGE. 2022. "Statement on RGE's engagement with TPL." Media release, April 22, 2022. https://www.rgei.com/attachments/ article/1805/RGE%20statement%20on%20TPL_25%20April%202022.pdf.

¹⁴ Greenpeace International. 2023. Shining Light on the Shadows: Towards a uniform methodology for establishing common corporate control. March 2023. https://www.greenpeace.org/static/planet4-international-stateless/2023/03/717b9dca-shining-light-on-the-shadows.pdf.

Royal Golden Eagle Group – Overview

RGE'S OPERATIONS IN THE PULP, PAPER, AND VISCOSE SECTORS

Indonesia

The Royal Golden Eagle Group is one of the world's largest producers of wood pulp and products that are made from it: printing paper, tissue, packaging, and viscose rayon. APRIL is RGE's pulp and paper business unit in Indonesia, operating the PT Riau Andalan Pulp & Paper (RAPP) mill in Kerinci, Riau Province on the island of Sumatra. One of the biggest mills in the world, RAPP has an annual production capacity of 3.0 million tons of wood pulp and consumes around 15 million cubic meters (m³) of wood per year.¹⁵ RAPP manages 338,228 ha of concession area in Sumatra, and the mill sources wood from other suppliers in Sumatra and Kalimantan with a total concession area of 1,126,213 ha, according to the Nusantara Atlas.¹⁶

The pulp mill operated by PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk in North Sumatra is reportedly owned by RGE's controlling shareholder, Sukanto Tanoto, and operates as a sister mill to RAPP.¹⁷ The Toba Pulp Lestari mill reportedly produced 198,429 tons of pulp in 2022,¹⁸ and and it manages an industrial woodfiber concession (HTI) in Sumatra of 167,912 ha.¹⁹

At APRIL's mill complex, paper and viscose are produced from some of the pulp, while other portions of its pulp output are exported to RGE's operations in China for further processing (see below). PT Asia Pacific Rayon is an RGE-owned viscose producer in Indonesia that is located in the same site as the APRIL mill in Kerinci, Riau. With current production capacity of 240,000 tons per year since starting its viscose rayon line in 2020, Asia Pacific Rayon plans to increase production to 600,000 tons per year by 2023 to become, in its own words, "the world's largest single-site integrated viscose manufacturing facility, seamlessly integrating dissolving wood pulp from APRIL's renewable fiber plantations."²⁰

China

Outside Indonesia, RGE also has significant pulp, paper and viscose operations in China and Brazil. In China, RGE-owned Asia Symbol has pulp and paper facilities in Rizhao (Shandong Province) and Xinhui (Guangdong Province) with a combined capacity of 2.2 million tons of pulp, 600,000 tons paperboard, and 1.5 million tons of fine paper.²¹ Established in 2005, Asia Symbol's products are primarily, bleached hardwood kraft pulp

¹⁵ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2022. "PT Riau Andalan Pulp and Paper". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI). Government of Indonesia.

¹⁶ TheTreeMap. 2023. Nusantara Atlas. Mapping platform, accessed in March 2023. https://map.nusantara-atlas.org/.

¹⁷ Tax Justice Network (Forum Pajak Berkeadilan) et al. 2020. *Macao Money Machine: Profit shifting and tax leakage in Indonesia's pulp exports*. Jakarta, Indonesia, November 2020. https://environmentalpaper.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/20201103-Macao-Money-Machine.pdf.

¹⁸ PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk. 2023. "Sustainability," Webpage on company website, accessed in May 2023. <u>https://www.tobapulp.com/en/sustainability/</u>.

¹⁹ PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk. 2021. "PT Toba Pulp Lestari's Concession Usage." Company website. Updated December 2021. Accessed in May 2023. https://www.tobapulp.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/PT-Toba-Pulp-Lestari-Concession-Usage.pdf.

²⁰ Asia Pacific Rayon. 2021. "Asia Pacific Rayon to ramp up viscose fibre production to meet market demand." Press release, February 22, 2021. https://www.aprayon.com/en/media-english/news-releases/asia-pacific-rayon-to-ramp-up-viscose-fibre-production-tomeet-market-demand/.

²¹ Valmet. 2022. "Valmet to supply a fine paper making line to Asia Symbol (Shandong) in China." Press release, April 28, 2022. https://www.valmet.com/media/news/press-releases/2022/valmet-to-supply-a-fine-paper-making-line-to-asia-symbol-shandong-in-china/.

(BHKP), northern bleached kraft pulp (NBKP), liquid packaging board, high grade ivory board, and uncoated woodfree printing and fine paper.²²

Also located in China, RGE-owned Sateri has become the world's largest producer of viscose fiber.²³ With five mills, it produced around 1.5 million tons of viscose fiber in 2021²⁴, with the dissolving pulp requirement reportedly sourced primarily from APRIL's operations in Indonesia and RGE-owned Bracell's operations in Brazil, according to an assessment by Rainforest Alliance for a CanopyStyles report.²⁵ Sateri's customers apparently include textile retailers around the world, including well-known fashion brands and household retailers. In 2020, Sateri, in collaboration with Asia Symbol, commenced production of Lyocell²⁶, a wood pulp-based textile produced in a closed-loop process with more environmentally-friendly chemicals than conventional viscose rayon.²⁷

Brazil

In Brazil, RGE-owned Bracell has two pulp mills: one in Bahia which was acquired in 2003 and which has 500,000 tons of annual dissolving pulp capacity; and the Lwarcel mill in Sao Paulo state which was acquired in 2018 with 250,000 tons per year of pulp capacity.²⁸ In 2021, the Lwarcel mill was reportedly upgraded to 1.5 million tons of annual dissolving pulp capacity or between 2.6 and 2.8 million tons of annual kraft pulp capacity.²⁹ In 2019, Bracell reportedly owned 234,000 ha of plantation area in Brazil, from which it sources a substantial portion of its wood requirement.³⁰

RGE'S OPERATIONS IN THE PALM OIL SECTOR

Outside of the pulp, paper, and viscose business, RGE operates global businesses in the oil palm and energy sectors. Asian Agri is the RGE Group's official plantation arm and one of Asia's largest palm oil producers. Asian Agri's website states that the company has 22 palm oil mills in Indonesia³¹ and operates 30 company-owned plantations in the provinces of North Sumatra, Riau and Jambi (all on the island of Sumatra) with a planted area of 100,000 hectares.³²

Apical is the RGE Group's palm oil processing and trading division. Apical is a vertically integrated processor with 8 palm oil refineries, 3 palm kernel crushing plants, 5 oleochemical plants and 4 biofuel plants in Indonesia, China and Spain. It does not own oil palm plantations or crude palm oil (CPO) mills and is dependent on

²² RGE. 2022. "Asia Symbol." Webpage, accessed in February 2023. https://www.rgei.com/our-business/asia-symbol.

²³ RGE. 2019. "Sateri becomes world's largest viscose producer with latest acquisition." *Inside RGE* Webpage, April 19, 2019. <u>https://www.inside-rge.com/corporate/sateri-becomes-worlds-largest-viscose-producer-with-latest-acquisition/</u>.

²⁴ Sateri. 2022. Sateri Sustainability Report 2021. https://www.sateri.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/sateri-sustainability-report-2021-en.pdf.

²⁵ Rainforest Alliance. 2018. CanopyStyle Verification and Guidelines Evaluation Report for Sateri Corporate Office and Manufacturing Mills in China. May 16, 2018. https://www.sateri.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/canopystyle-verification-report-by-rainforest-alliance.pdf.

²⁶ Textile World. 2020. "Sateri enters China's lyocell fiber market with new 20,000-ton lyocell line In Shangdong." May 25, 2020. https://www.textileworld.com/textile-world/fiber-world/2020/05/sateri-enters-chinas-lyocell-fiber-market-with-new-20000-ton-lyocell-line-in-shangdong/.

²⁷ Sateri. 2020. "Towards closed-loop manufacturing – Sateri enters China's lyocell fibre market." Press release, May 25, 2020. <u>https://www.sateri.com/news_events/towards-closed-loop-manufacturing-sateri-enters-chinas-lyocell-fibre-market/</u>.

²⁸ RGE. 2018. "RGE completes acquisition of Lwarcel Celulose; manages Brazil businesses under Bracell Group." Press release, August 20, 2018. https://www.rgei.com/attachments/article/1069/News%20Release-%20RGE%20Completes%20Acquisition%20of%20 Lwarcel%20-%2031%20Aug%2018.pdf.

²⁹ Euwid Pulp and Paper. 2022. "Bracell commences dissolving pulp production at Lençóis Paulista mill." May 19, 2022. <u>https://www.euwid-paper.com/news/companies/bracell-commences-dissolving-pulp-production-at-lencois-paulista-mill-250522/.</u> Bracell. 2019. "Bracell Group rebrands Bahia Specialty Cellulose and Lwarcel Celulose under 'Bracell' Brand." Press release, April 30, 2019. <u>https://www.bracell.com/en/news/bracell-group-rebrands-bahia-specialty-cellulose-and-lwarcel-celulose-under-bracell-brand/.</u>

³⁰ RGE. 2023. "Our group of companies: Bracell." Webpage, accessed in April 2023. https://www.rgei.com/our-business/bracell.

³¹ Asian Agri. 2023. "Mills." Webpage, accessed in March 2023. https://www.asianagri.com/en/our-business/mills/.

³² Asian Agri. 2023. "Plantations." Webpage, accessed in March 2023. https://www.asianagri.com/en/our-business/plantations/.

sourcing CPO from RGE-controlled plantation companies like Asian Agri and third-party suppliers across Indonesia. One of Apical's palm oil refineries called PT Kutai Refinery Nusantara, is located in Balikpapan in East Kalimantan, and, according to a 2021 Rainforest Action Network report, it sourced palm oil from companies that have contributed to the conversion of over 700,000 hectares of rainforests in North and East Kalimantan.³³

Box 1. Reported sources of financing for RGE

Data compiled by Forests & Finance, a coalition of civil society organizations, reports that during the period 2016–2022 (September), RGE received at least US\$ 8.1 billion in loans and underwriting for its palm oil and pulp and paper operations in Indonesia and Brazil.³⁴

Largest 15 creditors to RGE palm oil and pulp operations in Southeast Asia and Brazil in the Forests & Finance database (2016–2022 September)



RGE AND APRIL'S "NO-DEFORESTATION" COMMITMENTS AND SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES

In early June 2015, RGE³⁵ and APRIL³⁶ both made commitments to eliminate deforestation from their operations and third-party supply chains (see Figure 2). These commitments are part of broader sustainability policies, in which RGE and APRIL also committed to manage peatlands responsibly and to resolve conflicts with communities.

³³ Rainforest Action Network. 2021. Keep Borneo's Forests Standing: Evaluating the forest footprint of brands driving deforestation and land rights violations in the Indonesian provinces of North and East Kalimantan, Borneo. https://www.ran.org/publications/borneo-forest-footprint/.

³⁴ The data excludes finance directly to Chinese pulp & paper subsidiaries Asia Symbol and Sateri.

³⁵ RGE. 2015. "Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Forestry, Fibre, Pulp & Paper Sustainability Framework." June 2, 2015 (updated April 25, 2022). rgei.com/sustainability/sustainability-framework.

³⁶ APRIL. 2015. "APRIL Group's Sustainable Forest Management Policy 2.0." June 3, 2015. https://www.aprilasia.com/en/sustainability/ sustainability-policy/sfmp-2-0.

Figure 2. Excerpts from the RGE Group and APRIL's sustainability policies.



Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Forestry, Fibre, Pulp & Paper Sustainability Framework



APRIL Group's Sustainable Forest Management Policy 2.0 3 June 2015

Sources: The RGE Group and APRIL's websites.

Both RGE and APRIL's "No Deforestation" policies stipulate that forests must be categorized as High Conservation Value (HCV) or High Carbon Stock (HCS) areas to be protected under their respective policies.³⁷ Their policies on the responsible management of peatlands include no new development on forested peatland.³⁸

RGE and APRIL commit to respecting the rights of indigenous peoples and local communities to give Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC) for projects which involve operations on lands where these communities hold legal, communal or customary rights.³⁹ Asia Symbol, RGE's pulp and paper unit in China, has similar policies to respect community rights and prevent deforestation, with specific mention of protection for "Indonesia's natural tropical forest"⁴⁰ (see Figure 3). RGE's palm oil companies Asian Agri and Apical have also adopted sustainability policies that commit to eliminating deforestation and new development on peatlands within their operations and supply chains.

³⁷ APRIL. 2015. "APRIL Group's Sustainable Forest Management Policy 2.0." June 3, 2015. https://www.aprilasia.com/en/sustainability/ sustainability-policy/sfmp-2-0.

RGE. 2015. "Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Forestry, Fibre, Pulp & Paper Sustainability Framework." June 2, 2015 (updated April 25, 2022). rgei.com/sustainability/sustainability-framework.

³⁸ APRIL. 2015. "APRIL Group's Sustainable Forest Management Policy 2.0." June 3, 2015. https://www.aprilasia.com/en/sustainability/ sustainability-policy/sfmp-2-0.

RGE. 2015. "Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Forestry, Fibre, Pulp & Paper Sustainability Framework." June 2, 2015 (updated April 25, 2022). rgei.com/sustainability/sustainability-framework.

³⁹ APRIL. 2015. "APRIL Group's Sustainable Forest Management Policy 2.0." June 3, 2015. https://www.aprilasia.com/en/sustainability/ sustainability-policy/sfmp-2-0.

RGE. 2015. "Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Forestry, Fibre, Pulp & Paper Sustainability Framework." June 2, 2015 (updated April 25, 2022). rgei.com/sustainability/sustainability-framework.

⁴⁰ Asia Symbol. 2022. *Sustainability Report 2020-21*. https://www.asiasymbol.com/en/images/pdf/asia-symbol-sustainability-report-2020-2021.pdf.

Despite these references, the policies and procedures of the RGE companies are, according to the Rainforest Action Network, falling short of benchmarks for the fulfillment of FPIC rights.⁴¹ A recent investigation by the Rainforest Action Network also revealed Apical has failed to fully implement its policy as it has continued to purchase palm oil from mills accepting oil palm kernels illegally grown within a nationally protected wildlife reserve inside the Leuser Ecosystem in Aceh, Sumatra.⁴²



Figure 3. Excerpt from Asia Symbol's 2020–2021 sustainability report.

Source: Asia Symbol's website.

APRIL has committed to achieve net-zero emissions from land use by 2030 and committed to setting corporate climate targets under the Science Based Targets Initiative (SBTi).⁴³ The Forests & Finance coalition questioned major anomalies in APRIL's data that underpins its assessment of its greenhouse gas emissions, including its calculations of the extent of fires within its concessions.⁴⁴ In 2022, APRIL was reportedly removed from SBTi's list of 'Companies taking action'.⁴⁵ APRIL remains a member of the corporate engagement program for Science Based Targets Network (SBTN), which aims to establish similar corporate targets for biodiversity.⁴⁶

THE FOREST STEWARDSHIP COUNCIL'S ASSESSMENT OF HARM AND FUTURE MONITORING FOR APRIL AND THE RGE GROUP

The Forest Stewardship Council will soon begin a process to end its disassociation from APRIL, under a new policy to give disassociated companies a pathway towards getting re-certified.⁴⁷ APRIL was disassociated

⁴¹ Rainforest Action Network. 2020. The Need for FPIC. An evaluation of the policies and standard operating procedures of ten major corporate groups involved in forest-risk commodity supply chains in Southeast Asia. https://www.ran.org/publications/fpicevaluation/. Rainforest Action Network. 2020. Royal Golden Eagle Individual Evaluation. December 2020. https://www.ran.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/12/RoyalGoldenEaglegroup_Final.pdf.

⁴² Rainforest Action Network. 2022. Carbon Bomb Scandals. Big brands driving climate disaster for palm oil. https://www.ran.org/wpcontent/uploads/2022/09/Rainforest-Action-Network-Leuser-Report-FINAL-WEB.pdf.

⁴³ RGE. 2020. "APRIL 2030 – Realising the SDGs in Indonesia." *Inside RGE*, Webpage, December 4, 2020. https://www.inside-rge.com/ corporate/april2030-sdgs-indonesia.

⁴⁴ Hodgson, Camilla. 2022. "Climate scientists criticise corporate emissions oversight body SBTi." *Financial Times*, November 1, 2022. https://www.ft.com/content/8efe3f48-1f00-4731-919b-e47f4d5f7c82.

⁴⁵ Forests & Finance. 2022. "Major risks of self-reporting under Science Based Targets Initiative highlighted by pulp giant APRIL's dubious greenhouse gas emissions numbers." News release, November 2, 2022. <u>https://forestsandfinance.org/news/major-risks-of-self-reporting-under-science-based-targets-initiative/</u>.

⁴⁶ Science Based Targets Network. 2023. "What is the SBTN Corporate Engagement Program?" Webpage, accessed in March 2023. https://sciencebasedtargetsnetwork.org/take-action-now/take-action-as-a-company/join-the-sbtn-corporate-engagement-program/.

⁴⁷ The Forest Stewardship Council. 2023. "FSC Remedy Framework". Webpage, accessed in March 2023. https://connect.fsc.org/ document-centre/documents/resource/1444.

from the FSC in 2013, and since the following year has tried to regain entry.⁴⁸ A new policy, called the Remedy Framework, provides a pathway for environmental restoration and rehabilitation, and social remediation for communities, both proportionate to the harm caused by organizations such as APRIL who have breached FSC requirements.⁴⁹ APRIL will be one of the first test cases for the application of the Remedy Framework.⁵⁰

The FSC has also recently revised its 'Policy for Association' to address the strategy of corporate groups to evade accountability through the use of complex and opaque ownership chains.⁵¹ From January 1, 2023, this policy adopts a definition of "corporate group" based on the Accountability Framework Initiative and broadens the scope of responsibility to be based on "control" rather than "involvement". The criteria in the AFI definition of "corporate group" encompasses a number of ways an organization or individual can control companies without having legal ownership.⁵² This means that FSC monitoring for future violations applies to a much wider network of companies than it has historically linked to APRIL.

For APRIL, this wider scope will also be applied retroactively to harm prior to 2023, as the FSC Board decided at its March 2023 meeting that APRIL's "gravity or magnitude of harm" was "outstanding".⁵³ These cases "have had an exceptionally high negative impact on forests and people on-the-ground," according to an "Advice Note" published by the FSC in February 2023.⁵⁴ The FSC had previously published the summary of an analysis in 2020 that concluded APRIL's wood suppliers destroyed 435,877 ha of forest (irreversible forest conversion) that was also likely High Conservation Value.⁵⁵ The new "gravity of harm" decision triggers a wider scope of damages assessment to include APRIL and the RGE Group's related parties⁵⁶ – not just those companies formally under the APRIL legal hierarchy as the 2020 assessment had considered.⁵⁷

The analysis below highlights examples of situations involving companies under common control with APRIL and the RGE Group that the FSC, in light of its new definition of "corporate group", must now consider in updating its assessment of APRIL's legacy of harm. It also extends the scope of FSC's future monitoring for violations related to APRIL to include suppliers and land banks that will feed a new mega-scale pulp mill in North Kalimantan being developed in a way that is expected to put pressure on some of Borneo's and potentially Papua's remaining forests.

⁴⁸ The Forest Stewardship Council. 2023. "Asia Pacific Resources International Holdings Ltd. Group (APRIL)." Webpage on "Current Cases," accessed in March 2023. https://connect.fsc.org/actions-and-outcomes/current-cases/asia-pacific-resources-international-holdings-ltd-group-april.

⁴⁹ The Forest Stewardship Council. 2023. "FSC Remedy Framework". Webpage, accessed in March 2023. https://connect.fsc.org/ document-centre/documents/resource/1444.

⁵⁰ The Forest Stewardship Council. 2023. "Asia Pacific Resources International Holdings Ltd. Group (APRIL)." Webpage on "Current Cases," accessed in March 2023. https://connect.fsc.org/actions-and-outcomes/current-cases/asia-pacific-resources-international-holdings-ltd-group-april.

⁵¹ The Forest Stewardship Council. 2022. *Policy for Association Version 3*. FSC-POL-01-004. https://connect.fsc.org/document-centre/ documents/resource/368.

⁵² The Forest Stewardship Council. 2022. *Policy for Association Version 3*. FSC-POL-01-004. <u>https://connect.fsc.org/document-centre/documents/resource/368</u>.

⁵³ The Forest Stewardship Council. 2023. "Approved Decision Record of BM95." March 20-26, 2023.

⁵⁴ The Forest Stewardship Council. 2023. "Scope of Application of FSC Remedy Framework for Outstanding Magnitude or Gravity of Harm Caused." Advice Note, February 16, 2023. <u>https://connect.fsc.org/fr/document-center/documents/a1c7524d-5498-460d-8829-aa548fa2be0f.</u>

⁵⁵ Forest Finest Consulting. 2020. *Baseline Assessment for APRIL*. The Forest Stewardship Council, November 3, 2020. https://connect.fsc.org/actions-and-outcomes/current-cases/asia-pacific-resources-international-holdings-ltd-group-april.

⁵⁶ The Forest Stewardship Council. 2023. "Approved Decision Record of BM95." March 20-26, 2023.

⁵⁷ Forest Finest Consulting. 2020. *Baseline Assessment for APRIL*. The Forest Stewardship Council, November 3, 2020. <u>https://connect.fsc.org/actions-and-outcomes/current-cases/asia-pacific-resources-international-holdings-ltd-group-april</u>.



Controversial wood supply to RGE's Asia Symbol mill

This section of the report documents recent deforestation in the supply chain of two RGE-linked companies: PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, which operates a wood chip mill in Balikpapan, East Kalimantan; and Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp & Paper, an RGE subsidiary, which operates a pulp and paper mill in Rizhao, China.

WOOD SUPPLIERS TO THE PT BALIKPAPAN CHIP LESTARI WOODCHIP MILL

PT Kutai Chip Mill, a woodchip mill in Balikpapan, East Kalimantan, is known to have previously sent wood to Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp & Paper, a mill owned by the RGE Group in Rizhao in China's Shandong Province.⁵⁸ In December 2019, according to corporate records, the name of the company that owns the woodchip mill changed to PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari (BCL).⁵⁹ In 2021 and 2022, after several years of inactivity, BCL received nearly 1.5 million m³ of wood from nine pulpwood suppliers in Kalimantan (see Figure 4).⁶⁰ From this wood, the chip mill reportedly produced 580,463 bone-dried tons (BDT) of woodchips, of which 561,919 BDT was reportedly exported.⁶¹

At least 90 percent of those woodchips, according to shipment-level trade data and vessel tracking reports, were sent by specialized woodchip carriers from BCL's port to RGE's pulp and paper mill in Rizhao: Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp & Paper. In response to the findings of this report, Asia Symbol acknowledged wood chip deliveries from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari to Asia Symbol's pulp and paper mill in Rizhao, China in 2021 and 2022, and the pulp and paper company stated that it would investigate the allegations.

DEFORESTATION IN WOOD SUPPLIER CONCESSION AREAS

Three of the nine wood suppliers to the PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari woodchip mill in 2021 and 2022, according to the Nusantara Atlas, have had significant amounts of deforestation in their industrial forest plantation concessions (*Hutan Tanaman Industri*, or HTI) during the period since June 2015 when RGE's "No Deforestation" policy took effect.⁶² PT Industrial Forest Plantations manages a 101,840 ha concession in Central Kalimantan, PT Adindo Hutani Lestari has a 181,437 ha concession in North Kalimantan, and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya has a 56,211 ha concession in East Kalimantan.⁶³ Collectively, 37,105 ha of deforestation

⁵⁸ APRIL Stakeholder Advisory Committee. 2016. "Minutes from 21-24 June 2016 SAC Meeting in Riau, Indonesia." <u>https://www.aprilasia.com/images/pdf_files/meeting_updates/20161108-7th-sac-report-21-24-june-2016.pdf</u>.

⁵⁹ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

⁶⁰ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2021–2022. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.

⁶¹ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2021–2022. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.

⁶² Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Annual "forest loss" totals for 2016–2022 in PT Adindo Hutani Lestari, PT Industrial Forest Plantation, and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya's HTI concession areas, accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.

⁶³ Government of Indonesia. 2023. "Perizinan Berusaha Pemanfaatan Hutan (PBPH) in Satu Data Pengelolaan Hutan Lestari." Accessed in March 2023. https://phl.menlhk.go.id/.



Figure 4. Locations of the PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari woodchip mill and its reported wood suppliers in 2021 and 2022.

Source: Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2021–2022. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI). Government of Indonesia.

was detected within these companies' HTI concession areas between the start of 2016 and the end of 2022, according to the Nusantara Atlas.⁶⁴ PT Industrial Forest Plantation had the second highest deforestation in 2022 of nearly 300 industrial wood fiber concessions in Indonesia, according to findings published by TheTreeMap in the Nusantara Atlas.⁶⁵

PULPING BORNEO

DEFORESTATION IN THE RGE GROUP'S SUPPLY CHAIN AND RGE'S HIDDEN LINKS TO A NEW MEGA-SCALE PULP MILL IN NORTH KALIMANTAN, INDONESIA

⁶⁴ Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Annual "forest loss" totals for 2016–2022 in PT Adindo Hutani Lestari, PT Industrial Forest Plantation, and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya's HTI concession areas, accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.

⁶⁵ TheTreeMap. 2023. "Pulp-and-Paper Driven Deforestation in Indonesia Accelerates in 2022." January 13. https://nusantara-atlas. org/pulp-and-paper-driven-deforestation-in-indonesia-accelerates-in-2022/.





Source: Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Annual "forest loss" totals for 2016–2022 in PT Industrial Forest Plantation's HTI concession, accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.

During the period 2016–2022, **PT Industrial Forest Plantation** had 21,827 ha of deforestation in its HTI concession area with annual forest loss peaking at 6,790 ha in 2022 (see Figures 5 and 6).⁶⁶ Located in Central Kalimantan north of the provincial capital of Palangkaraya, PT Industrial Forest Plantation supplied 15,615 m³ of wood to the BCL chip mill in 2022.⁶⁷

⁶⁶ Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Annual "forest loss" totals for 2016–2022 in PT Industrial Forest Plantation's HTI concession, accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.

⁶⁷ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2022. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.

Figure 6. Photo taken in October 2022 of PT Industrial Forest Plantation's HTI concession area in Central Kalimantan.



Source: Fajar Sandhika / Auriga Nusantara, Aerial Photo of PT Industrial Forest Plantation, (1°30'32.84"S – 114°11'12.21"E).

Almost all of PT Industrial Forest Plantation's concession area, including the forest that was recently cleared, is identified as Central Borneo orangutan habitat, according to data from the Ministry of Environment and Forestry (see Figure 7).⁶⁸ The Government of Indonesia's timber royalty database indicates that almost 60,000 m³ of large-diameter (more than 30 centimeters in diameter) natural forest timber was harvested by PT Industrial Forest Plantation in 2022, though none of this was reported to enter BCL.⁶⁹ When sent the findings of this land cover analysis, PT Industrial Forest Plantation did not respond to a request for comment.

Within **PT Adindo Hutani Lestari**'s HTI concession, 10,627 ha of forest loss was detected between 2016 and 2022 (see Figures 8 and 9).⁷⁰ Located in northeast Kalimantan, PT Adindo Hutani Lestari supplied 62,105 m³ of wood to BCL in 2021.⁷¹ The company is also consistently one of the largest wood suppliers to APRIL's Riau Andalan Pulp & Paper mill in Sumatra, sending 615,472 m³ of wood to the APRIL/RAPP mill in 2022.⁷² RGE and APRIL have denied that the deforestation that occurred within PT Adindo Hutani Lestari's concession,

⁶⁸ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2016. *Final Report – Orangutan Population and Habitat Viability Assessment*. May 23-26, 2016. In collaboration with IUCN SSC Conservation Breeding Specialist Group. <u>https://www.cbsg.org/sites/cbsg.org/files/documents/2016%20Orangutan%20PHVA.pdf</u>.

⁶⁹ SI-PNBP. 2022. "PT Industrial Forest Plantation." 43/LHP-LC/KBB/IFP/X/2022. October 22, 2022. http://v1.sipnbp.online:8080/ simpnbp/home_default.

⁷⁰ Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Annual "forest loss" totals for 2016–2022 in PT Adindo Hutani Lestari's HTI concession, accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.

⁷¹ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2021. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.

⁷² Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2022. "PT Riau Andalan Pulp and Paper". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.

Figure 7. Orangutan in Central Kalimantan at the Orangutan Foundation International Care Center.



Source: Ulet Ifansasti/Greenpeace.



Figure 8. Clearance of natural forests detected inside the HTI concession area of PT Adindo Hutani Lestari, 2016–2022.

Source: Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Annual "forest loss" totals for 2016–2022 in PT Adindo Hutani Lestari's HTI concession in North Kalimantan, accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.





PULPING BORNEO DEFORESTATION IN THE RGE GROUP'S SUPPLY CHAIN AND RGE'S HIDDEN LINKS TO A NEW MEGA-SCALE PULP MILL IN NORTH KALIMANTAN, INDONESIA

Figure 9. Photo taken in October 2020 of PT Adindo Hutani Lestari's concession area in North Kalimantan.



Source: Fajar Sandhika / Auriga Nusantara. (3°54'29.92"N – 117°4'34.83"E)

as documented in NGO⁷³ and media reports⁷⁴ during 2020 and 2021, amounts to a violation of RGE and APRIL's "No Deforestation" commitments.⁷⁵

When sent the findings of this land cover analysis, PT Adindo Hutani Lestari did not respond to a request for comment. APRIL responded, "In 2020, we confirmed based on evidence from spatial analysis and ground verification, that no deforestation occurred in the areas highlighted by Auriga in its report, and that there was no breach of our SFMP 2.0 commitments."

In the HTI concession area managed by **PT Fajar Surya Swadaya**, 4,651 ha of forest loss was detected between 2016 and 2022⁷⁶, including in forest areas identified as orangutan habitat by Indonesia's Ministry of Environment and Forestry (see Figure 11).⁷⁷ Located in East Kalimantan, PT Fajar Surya Swadaya in 2022 supplied

 APRIL. 2020. "APRIL Responds to Auriga on PT AHL." APRIL Dialog, October 5, 2020. https://www.aprildialog.com/en/2020/10/05/ april-responds-to-auriga-on-pt-ahl/.
 APRIL. 2021. "APRIL Response to NBC story." APRIL Dialog, December 12, 2021. https://www.aprildialog.com/en/2021/12/12/aprilgroup-response-to-nbc-story/.

⁷³ Koalisi Anti Mafia Hutan et al. 2020. Sustaining Deforestation: APRIL's links with PT Adindo Hutani Lestari undercut 'no deforestation' pledge. Jakarta, Indonesia, October 6, 2020. https://environmentalpaper.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/2020-10-06-Sustaining-Deforestation-APRIL-Adindo.pdf.

⁷⁴ Lehren, Andrew et al. 2021. "This fabric is hailed as 'eco-friendly.' The rainforest tells a different story." NBC News, December 11, 2021. https://www.nbcnews.com/investigations/fabric-hailed-eco-friendly-rainforest-tells-different-story-rcna8080.

⁷⁶ Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Annual "forest loss" totals for 2016–2022 in PT Fajar Surya Swadaya's HTI concession, accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.

⁷⁷ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2016. Final Report – Orangutan Population and Habitat Viability Assessment. May 23-26, 2016. In collaboration with IUCN SSC Conservation Breeding Specialist Group. <u>https://www.cbsg.org/sites/cbsg.org/files/documents/2016%20Orangutan%20PHVA.pdf</u>.

Figure 10. Piles of acacia logs are loaded on a barge at a log pond inside PT Adindo Hutani Lestari's pulpwood concession in North Kalimantan in January 2015, prior to RGE and APRIL's 2015 "No Deforestation" commitments.



Source: Ulet Ifansasti/Greenpeace.



Figure 11. Clearance of natural forests detected inside the HTI concession area of PT Fajar Surya Swadaya in East Kalimantan, 2016–2022.

Source: Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Annual "forest loss" totals for 2016– 2022 in PT Fajar Surya Swadaya's HTI concession, accessed in February 2023. https://nusantaraatlas.org/.

PULPING BORNEO

DEFORESTATION IN THE RGE GROUP'S SUPPLY CHAIN AND RGE'S HIDDEN LINKS TO A NEW MEGA-SCALE PULP MILL IN NORTH KALIMANTAN, INDONESIA 44,746 m³ of wood to BCL and 54,941 m³ to APRIL's RIau Andalan Pulp & Paper mill in Sumatra.⁷⁸ After a civil society report about deforestation in Fajar Surya Swadaya's concession was published in 2018⁷⁹, RGE competitor Asia Pulp & Paper, which had also purchased wood from Fajar Surya Swadaya, acknowledged that the forest loss violated its own no-deforestation policy and dropped it as a supplier.⁸⁰ APRIL, by contrast, denied that the deforestation amounted to a violation of its "No Deforestation" policy,⁸¹ and shipments of wood to the Riau Andalan Pulp & Paper mill have continued.⁸² In April 2023, the Forest Stewardship Council announced the results of an assessment that "suggested" significant conversion, i.e. greater than 10,000 ha, occurred on PT Fajar Surya Swadaya's concession area and that of one other pulpwood supplier between 2013 and 2018.⁸³

When sent the findings of this land cover analysis, PT Fajar Surya Swadaya did not respond to a request for comment. APRIL responded, "We confirmed in 2018 that the company was an open market supplier of plantation wood.... Our due diligence noted that PT FSS had commissioned Tropenbos International to conduct a High Conservation Value assessment of their concessions in April 2015. This was the basis for plantation development carried out in non-HCV areas in 2016–2017."

WOODCHIP SHIPMENTS TO RGE'S ASIA SYMBOL MILL IN CHINA

From the wood it received from forestry concession companies in Kalimantan, PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari reported producing 296,653 BDT of woodchips in 2021 and 283,810 BDT in 2022.⁸⁴ Almost all of that production was reportedly exported: 291,221 BDT in 2021 and 270,698 BDT in 2022.⁸⁵ Trade data indicates that at least 90 percent of BCL exports⁸⁶ from Indonesia during this two year time period originated at its port in Balikpapan and were received by Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp & Paper in the port of Rizhao, China (see Figure 12).⁸⁷

A review of woodchip export data indicates that in 2021 and 2022, BCL sent at least 21 shipments to Asia Symbol totaling more than 508,000 BDT of woodchips, with a declared value in excess of US\$ 54 million (see Table 1).⁸⁸ Export declarations on the Ministry of Environment and Forestry's Timber Legality Information System (*Sistem Informasi Legalitas Kayu*, SILK) corroborate the shipments recorded in the trade data.⁸⁹

- 81 APRIL. 2018. "APRIL Response to NGO Coalition (Auriga) Report Regarding Supply." APRIL Dialog, August 15, 2018. <u>https://www.aprildialog.com/en/2018/08/15/april-response-to-auriga-report/</u>.
- 82 Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2017–2022. "PT Riau Andalan Pulp and Paper". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.
- 83 The Forest Stewardship Council. 2023. "Djarum Group." Webpage on "Current Cases," accessed in April 2023. https://connect.fsc.org/ actions-and-outcomes/current-cases/djarum-group.
- 84 Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2021–2022. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.

- 86 This does not include sample shipments of small quantities to equipment suppliers or other mills, presumably for testing.
- 87 Commercial trade data provider. 2021–2022. Exports from Indonesia reported as HS Code 440122.
- 88 Commercial trade data provider. 2021–2022. Exports from Indonesia reported as HS Code 440122.
- 89 Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2022. Indonesia's Timber Legality Information System (Sistem Informasi Legalitas Kayu). https://silk.menlhk.go.id/.

 ⁷⁸ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2022. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.
 Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2022. "PT Riau Andalan Pulp and Paper". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI). Government of Indonesia.

⁷⁹ Koalisi Anti-Mafia Hutan. 2018. APP and APRIL Violate Zero-Deforestation Policies with Wood Purchases from Djarum Group Concessions in East Kalimantan. August 15, 2018. https://auriga.or.id/resources/reports/32/app-and-april-violate-zero-deforestation-policies-with-wood-purchases-from-djarum-group-concessions-in-east-kalimantan.

⁸⁰ APP Sinar Mas. 2018. "Verification Report On Logs from PT. Fajar Surya Swadaya (FSS)." September 5, 2018. https://sustainabilitydashboard.com/documents/115225/126817/181009+Verification+Report+on+logs+from+FSS.pdf/262d9ecd-dcef-bbd3-ce5e-2fab86d8fb72?t=1588582953862.

⁸⁵ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2021–2022. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.

Figure 12. RGE-owned Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp and Paper Mill in Rizhao, China.



Source: Valmet

Table 1. Export of woodchips reported from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari to Asia Symbol (Shandong)Pulp & Paper, 2021–2022.

	No. of shipments	Weight (BDT)	Value (USD)
2022	12	222,903	\$ 30,043,009
2021	9	285,909	\$ 24,510,293
Total	21	508,812	\$ 54,553,302

Source: Commercial trade data provider. 2021–2022. Exports from Indonesia reported as HS Code 440122.

The woodchip shipments sent by BCL to Asia Symbol in Rizhao were first sold to one of two companies in the UAE: EPC Project Procurement DMCC and Recursos Trading DMCC.⁹⁰ The Managing Director of Recursos Trading, according to corporate registry information, is Wee Ching Hok.⁹¹ He was previously a Director (from September 2015 to October 2021) of International Woodchip Corporation Pte Ltd⁹², which shares an address, telephone number, and fax number with APRIL's corporate office in Singapore.⁹³

Twelve woodchip carriers, including the MV Batavia Express (see Figure 13), are identified in the trade data as transporting 21 shipments in 2021 and 2022 (see Table 2). The vessel routes of the dozen woodchip carriers, obtained from a commercial vessel tracking data provider, confirm that they traveled from Balikpapan to Rizhao on the dates of shipments indicated in the trade data (see Figure 14).⁹⁴

APRIL. 2023. "Contact Us." Webpage, accessed in February 2023. https://www.aprilasia.com/en/contact-us.

⁹⁰ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2022. Indonesia's Timber Legality Information System (Sistem Informasi Legalitas Kayu). Government of Indonesia. https://silk.menlhk.go.id/.

⁹¹ UAE Corporate Registry. 2023. "Recursos Trading DMCC." Accessed via business data provider in February 2023.

⁹² Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA). 2023. "International Woodchip Corporation Pte Ltd." Government of Singapore, accessed in February 2023.

⁹³ International Woodchip Corporation. 2023. "Contact information." Webpage, accessed in May 2023. https://www.iwc-woodchips. com/contact-us/.

⁹⁴ Commercial vessel tracking data provider. 2021–2022. GPS coordinates at daily intervals for MV Batavia Express, MV Brazil Express, MV Canada Express, MV China Express, MV Eagle Express, MV Nanjing Express, MV Pine Express, MV Shandong Express, MV Shanghai Express, MV Sumatera Express, MV Surabaya Express, MV Xinhu Express. Accessed in February 2023.

Figure 13. MV Batavia Express, described by its corporate owner as the largest woodchip carrier in the world.



Source: Nova Shipping website.

Table 2. Woodchip carriers that transported shipments of woodchips from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari in East Kalimantan, Indonesia to Asia Symbol in Rizhao, China during June 2021–January 2023.

Name of vessel	IMO number	Month of shipment from Balikpapan to Rizhao	
Batavia Express	9539987	Oct and Dec 2021	
Brazil Express	9861249	Mar 2022	
Canada Express	9861251	Jan 2022	
China Express	9861237	Apr 2022	
Eagle Express	9343431	Jan and Oct 2022	
Nanjing Express	9497098	Aug 2021 and Apr 2022	
Pine Express	8908765	Oct 2021 and Aug 2022	
Shandong Express	8712647	Jun, Sep and Nov 2022 and Jan 2023	
Shanghai Express	9539963	Jun and Jul 2021	
Sumatera Express	9650444	Nov 2021 and Feb 2022	
Surabaya Express	9554731	Nov 2021	
Xinhui Express	9497373	Jul and Oct 2021	

Commercial vessel tracking data provider. 2021–2022. GPS coordinates at daily intervals for MV Batavia Express, MV Brazil Express, MV Canada Express, MV China Express, MV Eagle Express, MV Nanjing Express, MV Pine Express, MV Shandong Express, MV Shanghai Express, MV Sumatera Express, MV Surabaya Express, MV Xinhu Express. Accessed in February 2023.



Figure 14. Vessel route in October 2022 of MV Eagle Express, one of a dozen woodchip carriers that transported woodchips from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari in East Kalimantan, Indonesia to Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp & Paper in Rizhao, China between June 2021 and January 2023, according to vessel tracking data.

Source: Commercial vessel tracking data provider. 2021–2022. GPS coordinates at daily intervals for MV Eagle Express, accessed in February 2023.

The company managing all twelve woodchip carriers, Nova Shipping & Logistics Pte Ltd, shares the address, telephone number, and fax number of APRIL's corporate office in Singapore (see Figure 15).⁹⁵ One of Nova Shipping's two Directors is Lee Chong⁹⁶, who reports on his LinkedIn profile that his current position is Corporate Business Controller for RGE and that his employment with RGE dates back to at least 2003.⁹⁷ Lee Chong has served as a Director for a number of RGE-related companies, including RGE Pte Ltd and its sole shareholder Peregrine Holdings Limited incorporated in Bermuda.⁹⁸

Asia Symbol, in response to the findings of this report, confirmed the wood chip shipments from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari. Asia Symbol's "Head of wood chips procurement and trading" wrote:

Asia Symbol's Wood and Pulp Sourcing Policy and Sustainability Policy comply with RGE's Forestry, Fibre, Pulp & Paper Sustainability Framework which commits the Group to No Deforestation and to responsible sourcing of pulp and wood chips. We apply responsible sourcing across our wood chip and pulp supply chain and are prepared to re-evaluate and terminate the relationship with a supplier who cannot or will not meet the objectives of our Wood and Pulp Sourcing Policy.

⁹⁵ Nova Shipping. 2023. "Gallery." Webpage, accessed in March 2023. https://www.nova-ship.com/gallery/. Nova Shipping. 2023. "Contact Information." Webpage, accessed in February 2023. https://www.nova-ship.com/contact/. APRIL. 2023. "Contact Us." Webpage, accessed in February 2023. https://www.aprilasia.com/en/contact-us.

⁹⁶ Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA). 2023. "Nova Shipping and Logistics Pte Ltd", accessed in February 2023. Government of Singapore.

⁹⁷ LinkedIn. 2023. "Lee Chong". Profile, accessed in February 2023. https://sg.linkedin.com/in/lee-chong-2208041b.

⁹⁸ Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA). 2020. "RGE Pte. Ltd." Company profile. Government of Singapore, accessed in September 2020.

Registrar of Companies. 2020. "Peregrine Holdings Limited." Government of Bermuda, accessed in September 2020.

We take the allegations raised by EPN seriously that the wood chips sourced from BCL have been obtained from companies that are alleged to have committed deforestation. We have taken immediate steps to investigate the allegations and commit to undertake the necessary actions based on the findings (see Appendix X for Asia Symbol's full response).



Figure 15. The "Contact" webpages for Nova Shipping and APRIL showing common address, phone number, and fax number.

Source: Nova Shipping. 2023. "Contact information." Webpage, accessed in February 2023. <u>https://www.nova-ship.com/contact/</u>. APRIL. 2023. "Contact us." Webpage, accessed in February 2023. <u>https://www.aprilasia.com/en/contact-us</u>.

RGE CORPORATE LINKS TO PT BALIKPAPAN CHIP LESTARI

Who owns, controls, and benefits from BCL's operations? As detailed below, the chip mill's ultimate beneficial owner is not known publicly because the corporate ownership chain leads to a company registered in the British Virgin Islands, where the identity of company shareholders is not available for public review.⁹⁹ This obscures the identity of the ultimate beneficial owner. Still, corporate registry records and other public sources of information establish corporate links between BCL and RGE. RGE, to the best of our knowledge, has not publicly declared or denied that it is affiliated with BCL.

Indeed, based on the Accountability Framework Initiative's definition of a corporate group, there is strong evidence that BCL and RGE are under common control. The Accountability Framework Initiative's definition of corporate group is backed by a growing consensus that it is the standard for understanding the scope of corporate groups, as evidenced by the Forest Stewardship Council recently adopting the AFI's definition of corporate group into its Policy for Association. RGE, in a public statement issued on April 22, 2022, said "As part of its commitment to align with industry frameworks for ethical supply chains, RGE acknowledges the Accountability Framework Initiative and its definition of 'Corporate Group' which includes related-party companies."¹⁰⁰

⁹⁹ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "BCL Industrial Sdn Bhd." Particulars of Shareholder, Government of Malaysia, accessed in February 2023.

Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "Great Mahakam Sdn Bhd." Corporate profile, accessed in February 2023. Government of Malaysia.

¹⁰⁰ RGE. 2022. "Statement on RGE's engagement with TPL." Press release, April 25, 2022. https://www.rgei.com/attachments/ article/1805/RGE%20statement%20on%20TPL_25%20April%202022.pdf.

From the AFI's criteria, four of eight determining factors indicate that BCL is part of the RGE Group (see Figure 16): 1) The beneficial ownership of PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari is hidden to the public using offshore companies. 2) The company shares land (a resource) with an RGE-owned palm oil company and an RGE-linked wood fiber plantation company. 3) Contractual arrangements appear to include exclusive buyer and supplier relationships with RGE-owned businesses. 4) Key management personnel have ties to RGE.

Figure 16. Excerpt from the Accountability Framework Initative's definition of terms.

Corporate group:

The totality of legal entities to which the company is affiliated in a relationship in which either party controls the actions or performance of the other. Factors that are used to determine whether a company is part of a broader corporate group include:

- Formality of relationship: Is there formal ownership, such as through an investment holding structure?
- Declared as a group: Has the group publicly declared the companies are linked?
- Family control: Are the companies owned or run by members of the same family?
- Financial control: Are there contractual or other financial arrangements that indicate one party controls the performance of another?
- Management control: Is there extensive overlap in officials between companies?
- Operational control: Are landholdings under a group's operational control?
- Beneficial ownership: Is ultimate ownership hidden in offshore companies or by the use of nominees?
- Shared resources: Do companies share a registered address, land or other physical assets, or provision of company functions or services?

Source: Accountability Framework Initiative. 2023. "Definitions." https://accountability-framework.org/the-framework/contents/definitions/.

Hidden beneficial ownership

PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari is owned by corporate shareholders registered in Malaysia – BCL Industrial Sdn Bhd and Great Mahakam Sdn Bhd – apparently at an address of a corporate services firm (see Figure 17).

Figure 17. The office where PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari's direct shareholders are registered is on the 6th Floor, Plaza First Nationwide in Kuala Lumpur.



Source: Site visit in April 2023.

The shareholder of the Malaysian companies, BCL Industrial Sdn Bhd and Great Mahakam Sdn Bhd, is Taroko Investment Holdings Limited, incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (see Figure 18).¹⁰¹ The British Virgin Islands Financial Services Authority, which manages the central corporate registry, does not publicly share the identity of company shareholders.¹⁰²

Figure 18. Corporate shareholder structure of PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, as of February 2023.



Sources: Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023. Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "BCL Industrial Sdn Bhd" and "Great Mahakam Sdn Bhd". Particulars of Shareholders, Government of Malaysia. accessed in February 2023.

Shared resources

BCL shares the location of its woodchip mill in Balikpapan with two other businesses: One is a palm oil refinery, PT Kutai Refinery Nusantara, owned by Apical¹⁰³, RGE's palm oil processing company (see Figures 19 and 20).¹⁰⁴ The other is PT Kalimantan Prima Services Indonesia, which has links to RGE through its current shareholder entities, PT Kreasi Lestari Pratama and PT Anugrah Hijau Lestari, as well as past corporate officers (see corporate mapping section below).¹⁰⁵

¹⁰¹ Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "BCL Industrial Sdn Bhd". Particulars of Shareholder, Government of Malaysia, accessed in February 2023.

¹⁰² Tax Justice Network. 2023. *Financial Secrecy Index*. Country page for the British Virgin Islands. https://fsi.taxjustice.net/country_detail/#country=VG&period=22.

¹⁰³ Apical. 2023. "Operations." Webpage, accessed in February 2023. https://www.apicalgroup.com/about/overview/#our-operations.

¹⁰⁴ RGE. 2023. "Our group of companies". Webpage, accessed in February 2023. https://www.rgei.com/our-business/apical.

¹⁰⁵ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Kalimantan Prima Services." Corporate profile. Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023. Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Kreasi Lestari Pratama" Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023. Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Anugrah Hijau Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

Figure 19. Map showing locations of PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, PT Kutai Refinery Nusantara, and PT Kalimantan Prima Services Indonesia.



Source: Googlemaps.com, accessed in February 2023 (1°10'45.2"S 116°47'20.8"E).

Figure 20. Excerpt from Apical's webpage.



Source: Apical. 2023. "Operations." Webpage, accessed in February 2023. https://www.apicalgroup.com/about/overview/#our-operations.

Trade arrangements

Top wood supplier relationship is RGE-owned plantation:

BCL's top wood supplier in the last two years, reportedly delivering over one-half million cubic meters of wood, is an RGE-owned company, PT ITCI Hutani Manunggal.¹⁰⁶ PT ITCI Hutani Manunggal was also the chip mill's largest wood supplier in 2016 and 2017 when the mill was operated under the name of PT Kutai Chip Mill.¹⁰⁷

Exclusive buyer is RGE-owned pulp and paper mill:

Trade data indicates that in the last two years BCL exported woodchips to only one company, Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp & Paper.¹⁰⁸ Prior to December 2019, when the mill was operated under the name PT Kutai Chip Mill,¹⁰⁹ the mill also supplied woodchips to Asia Symbol, as reported by APRIL in 2016 (see Figure 21).¹¹⁰

Figure 21. Excerpt from APRIL's Stakeholder Advisory 2016 meeting notes regarding PT Kutai Chip Mill's wood supply to Asia Symbol.



11. Update on Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Group:

- Per SAC's request, APRIL gave a brief presentation about RGE Group and the broad overview of each business group;
- RGE is a management service company to a group of resource-based manufacturing companies ("business groups"). RGE is a separate entity and does not own business groups. RGE is paid a management fee by business groups;
- RGE's Sustainability Framework applies to fibre business groups (i.e. APRIL, Asia Symbol, Toba Pulp Lestari, Bracell, Sateri) and their suppliers;
- APRIL clarified that: PT. ITCI Hutani Manunggal (RGE owned) and PT. Adindo Hutan Lestari are suppliers to Kutai Chip Mill (KCM) – which supplies wood chip to Asia Symbol. PT. ITCI Hutani Manunggal and PT. Adindo Hutan Lestari are also Short Term suppliers to APRIL. SAC notes that PT. ITCI Hutani Manunggal and PT. Adindo Hutan Lestari need to be in full compliance with SFMP 2.0.

Source: APRIL Stakeholder Advisory Committee. 2016. "Minutes from 21-24 June 2016 SAC meeting in Riau, Indonesia." <u>https://www.aprilasia.com/images/pdf_files/meeting_updates/20161108-7th-sac-report-21-24-june-2016.pdf</u>.

¹⁰⁶ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2021–2022. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.

¹⁰⁷ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2016–2017. "PT Kutai Chip Mill". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia. Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in

February 2023.

¹⁰⁸ Commercial trade data provider. 2021–2022. Exports from Indonesia reported as HS Code 440122.

¹⁰⁹ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

¹¹⁰ APRIL Stakeholder Advisory Committee. 2016. "Minutes from 21-24 June 2016 SAC meeting in Riau, Indonesia." https://www. aprilasia.com/images/pdf_files/meeting_updates/20161108-7th-sac-report-21-24-june-2016.pdf.

Management with ties to RGE

A current Director of PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, Zulkifli, has a reported address at Komplek PT RAPP, located at APRIL's pulp and paper mill complex in Kerinci, where PT Riau Andalan Pulp & Paper is situated (see Figure 22).¹¹¹ APRIL's website states, "Riau Andalan Pulp and Paper (PT. RAPP) is the operating arm of APRIL in Riau."¹¹²

Nama	Jabatan	Alamat
ZULKIFLI, NIK: 1405021904660005 NPWP: 141608232222000 TTL: Medan, 19 April 1966	DIREKTUR	Komplek PT RAPP CM 85

Figure 22. Excerpt from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari's corporate profile obtained from the Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Government of Indonesia.

Source: Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

Hery Susanto was a Commissioner of PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari from May 2013 until January 2018, according to official corporate registry documents.¹¹³ His LinkedIn profile indicates that he was a "Senior Financial Controller" for RGE from July 2010 until August 2018 based in Balikpapan, East Kalimantan (see Figure 23).¹¹⁴ In December 2016 while still a Commissioner of BCL, Hery Susanto became a Commissioner of ITCI Hutani Manunggal¹¹⁵, a company that RGE/APRIL acknowledges that it owns.¹¹⁶

The chip mill's current President Director is Lina Bustam¹¹⁷, who until 2019 was a Director of PT Toba Pulp Lestari (see Figure 24), which operates a pulp mill in North Sumatra and is acknowledged by RGE to be a related party.¹¹⁸

¹¹¹ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

¹¹² APRIL. 2023. "Our Operations". Webpage, accessed in February 2023. https://www.aprilasia.com/en/about-us/our-operations.

¹¹³ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

¹¹⁴ LinkedIn. 2023. "Hery Susanto". Profile, accessed in February 2023. https://id.linkedin.com/in/hery-susanto-b38aa920.

¹¹⁵ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT ITCI Hutani Manunggal." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

¹¹⁶ APRIL Stakeholder Advisory Committee. 2016. "Minutes from 21-24 June 2016 SAC Meeting in Riau, Indonesia." <u>https://www.aprilasia.com/images/pdf_files/meeting_updates/20161108-7th-sac-report-21-24-june-16.pdf</u>.

¹¹⁷ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

¹¹⁸ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

RGE. 2022. "Statement on RGE's engagement with TPL." Press release, April 25. 2022. https://www.rgei.com/attachments/ article/1805/RGE%20statement%20on%20TPL_25%20April%202022.pdf.
Figure 23. LinkedIn profile of Hery Susanto, former Senior Financial Controller for RGE.

Expe	erience	
	FATC & Support Manager	
	PT.Intraca Wood Manufacturing · Full-time Dec 2020 - Present · 2 yrs 5 mos Jakarta, Indonesia	
Ø	Financial Controller PT. Sinar Roda Utama · Full-time Nov 2019 - Dec 2020 · 1 yr 2 mos Indonesia	
ł	Financial Services Consultant PT.Mandiri Konsultama Perkasa · Freelance Aug 2018 - Oct 2019 · 1 yr 3 mos Indonesia	
M	Senior Financial Controller	
RGE	RGE Jul 2010 - Aug 2018 · 8 yrs 2 mos Balikpapan (Kalimantan Timur)	

Source: LinkedIn. 2023. "Hery Susanto". Profile, accessed in February 2023. https://id.linkedin.com/in/hery-susanto-b38aa920.

Figure 24. Excerpt from PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk's 2019 Annual Report.

	PT TOBA PULP	LESTARI Tbk					
CATATAN ATAS LAPORAN	N KEUANGAN	NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED					
UNTUK TAHUN-TAHUN YA							
31 DESEMBER 2019 DAN 20			DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018				
(Dinyatakan dalam Ribuan D Kecuali Data Saham)	ollar Amerika,	(1)	n thousands of US Dollars, except for share data)				
1. INFORMASI UMUM - La	njutan	1. GENERAL INFORMATION - Co	ntinued				
Dewan Komisaris, Direksi	dan Komite Audit - Lanjutan	Board of Commissioners, Directo Continued	ors and Audit Committee -				
	2019	2018	-				
Dewan Direksi			Board of Directors				
Direktur Utama	Vinod Kesavan	Vinod Kesavan	President Director				
Wakil Direktur Utama	Wilim	Wilim	Vice President Director				
Direktur	Mulia Nauli	Mulia Nauli	Director				
Direktur	Anwar Lawden, S.H	Anwar Lawden, S.H	Director				
Direktur	Parlindungan Hutagaol ***)	Ghanasyham Behera **)	Director				
Direktur	Tee Teong Beng ***) Lina Bustam***)	Lina Bustam	Director				
			Audit Committee				
Komite Audit		T I D I I O T M A	Chairman				
Komite Audit Ketua	Lundu Panjaitan, S.H, M.A	Lundu Panjaitan, S.H, M.A	Chuirmun				
	Lundu Panjaitan, S.H, M.A Lamsaudin Situmeang, SE, S.H.	Lundu Panjaitan, S.H, M.A Lamsaudin Situmeang, SE, S.H.	Member				

Source: PT Toba Pulp Lestari. 2020. Annual Report 2019. https://www.tobapulp.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/TPL_Annual-Report-2019.pdf.

PULPING BORNEO

DEFORESTATION IN THE RGE GROUP'S SUPPLY CHAIN AND RGE'S HIDDEN LINKS TO A NEW MEGA-SCALE PULP MILL IN NORTH KALIMANTAN, INDONESIA

Employee descriptions on LinkedIn

In his employment profile on LinkedIn, Febri Setiawan, a "Senior Project Controller" at Kalimantan Fiber reports having provided services to PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, PT Kutai Chip Mill, and PT Adindo Hutani Lestari, each of which is described as "RGE Group" (see Figure 25).¹¹⁹

Figure 25. LinkedIn profile of a "Senior Project Controller" at Kalimantan Fiber.



Source: LinkedIn. 2023. "Febri Setiawan." Profile, accessed in February 2023. https://id.linkedin.com/in/febri-setiawan-62b13453.

119 LinkedIn. 2023. "Febri Setiawan." Profile, accessed in February 2023. https://id.linkedin.com/in/febri-setiawan-62b13453.

Ong Leon Chuan (aka Leong Chuan ONG), a Commissioner of BCL from December 2019 until April 2021¹²⁰ previously worked at APRIL as Head of wood chip procurement, before becoming the mill coordinator at Kutai Chip Mill between July 2012 and June 2014, according to his LinkedIn profile (see Figure 26). Chuan described one of his accomplishments with reference to Kutai Chip Mill and the pulp mill in China it supplies as being part of the same corporate group: "Improved the chip quality and consistently ranked as the top supplier to **our** pulpmill in China" (bold type added for emphasis).¹²¹ After working at Kutai Chip Mill, Ong Leong Chuan reported working at PT Kalimantan Prima Services¹²², an RGE-linked company which shares a location with BCL and an RGE-owned Apical refinery, as noted above.

Both the RGE Group and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari were sent the findings of corporate connections presented above and the determination that these connections indicate BCL and RGE are under common control. Neither RGE nor BCL responded to a request for comment on the findings and determination of common control.

Figure 26. LinkedIn profile for former BCL Commissioner and former PT Kutai Chip Mill woodchip mill coordinator.

	ng Chuan ONG d Barging Operations
	Woodchip Mill Coordinator
	PT. Kutai Chipmill
-	Jul 2012 - Jun 2014 - 2 yrs
	East Kalimantan Province, Indonesia
	Mill Coordinator For Kutai Chipmill (KCM): Overview the operation of the KCM chip mill and achieved the following results:
	a. Increased annual production from 800K GMT to 1600k GMT per year.
-	 b. Improved the chip quality and consistently ranked as the top supplier to our pulpmill in China. c. Met 100% of our wood chip delivery commitment to our customers by securing uninterrupted log
	supply from fiber units and barge availability to deliver logs to the chip mill.
	d. Facilitated several Kaizen improvement projects to achieve lower wood wastage, increase production capacity, chip quality improvement.
	Head, WoodChip Procurement
APRIL®	APRIL
	Jan 2011 - Jul 2012 - 1 yr 7 mos
	Singapore
	Head, Global Woodchip Procurement:
	1. Responsible for sourcing 4 million bone dry tonnes (BDT) of woodchip annually to meet our pulp mill requirement in China.
	Negotiated long term and spot supply contracts (both on FOB and CFR term) from global suppliers such as Australia, Thailand, Vietnam, Malaysia, Indonesian and China.
	 Coordinated with shipping company to ensure woodchip schedule and capacity alignment to pulpmill.
	production requirement.
	Senior Strategic Sourcing Manager
1000	Forindo Pte Limited
	Sep 2002 - Dec 2010 - 8 yrs 4 mos
	Singapore
	Scope of Work includes:
	1. Responsible for procurement for all the major purchase in the RGE group of companies espsee mor

Source: LinkedIn. 2023. "Leong Chuan ONG." Profile, accessed in February 2023. https://sg.linkedin.com/in/leong-chuan-ong-a7501330.

- 120 Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.
- 121 LinkedIn. 2023. "Leong Chuan ONG." Profile, accessed in February 2023. https://sg.linkedin.com/in/leong-chuan-ong-a7501330.
- 122 LinkedIn. 2023. "Leong Chuan ONG." Profile, accessed in February 2023. https://sg.linkedin.com/in/leong-chuan-ong-a7501330.

PULPING BORNEO



The Phoenix pulp mill project in Tarakan, North Kalimantan

PULP MILL PLAN AND INITIAL LOCAL IMPACTS

A new pulp mill owned by PT Phoenix Resources International, a company incorporated in Indonesia, is being developed on the small island of Tarakan in North Kalimantan. The mill will reportedly produce semi-chemical pulp, according to the environmental impact assessment (*Analisis Mengenai Dampak Linkungan*, AMDAL) for the project. The AMDAL, completed in early 2023, indicates that the mill will be built in two phases over a period of 72 months.¹²³

According to the AMDAL, each phase will involve the construction of a pulp production line with a capacity of 850,000 tons/year, for a total capacity of 1.7 million tons/year upon completion.¹²⁴ However, a letter from the Ministry of Environment and Forestry to the directors of PT Phoenix Resources International, dated 5 October 2021, indicates that the company has applied for permits to construct a pulp mill with a total production capacity of 2,520,000 tons/year.¹²⁵

Information from the Ministry of Environment and Forestry's AMDAL tracking system indicates that the process of environmental licensing was initiated in January 2022 (see Figure 27).¹²⁶ Based on observations from a site visit in December 2022 and monitoring by satellite imagery, development of the mill is still in the early stages (see Figure 28 and 29). A Ministry of Environment and Forestry map published in 2021 indicates that a portion of the PT Phoenix Resources International construction site includes an area of mangroves.¹²⁷

Despite the project still being at an early stage, the local impacts of the construction process are already being felt by the local community around the site. The mill is being built on the west coast of Tarakan Island near to the district of Juata Permai, a few kilometers from the town of Tarakan.

According to community members, the main road near the location is often damaged from trucks moving landfill from nearby excavation spots to the construction site (see Figure 30).¹²⁸ The damaged roads and subsequent closures have reportedly caused some members of the local community to protest the situation

¹²³ PT. Phoenix Resources International. 2023. "ANDAL Rencana Pembangunan Industri Bubur Kerta (Pulp), TUKS dan Sarana Pendukungnya." Accessed in March 2023 from Dishut Kalimantan Utara.

¹²⁴ PT. Phoenix Resources International. 2023. "ANDAL Rencana Pembangunan Industri Bubur Kerta (Pulp), TUKS dan Sarana Pendukungnya." Accessed in March 2023 from Dishut Kalimantan Utara.

¹²⁵ Sudijanto, Ary. 2021. "Arahan Perubahan Persetujuan Lingkungan." Letter to Director of PT Phoenix Resources International, Ministry of Environment and Forestry, October 5, 2021. Accessed from Lampiran I of the AMDAL for PT Phoenix Resources International.

¹²⁶ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2023. "Informasi Surat Keluar." Amdal.net, accessed on February 18, 2023. https://amdal. menlhk.go.id/info_persuratan/.

¹²⁷ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2021. Peta Sebaran Mangrove di Provinsi Kalimantan Utara Tahun 2021. Government of Indonesia.

¹²⁸ Radar Tarakan. 2022. "Pemerintah Belum Capek Tutup Mata?". October 12, 2022. https://radartarakan.jawapos.com/daerah/ tarakan/12/10/2022/pemerintah-belum-capek-tutup-mata/.

Figure 27. Status updates on PT Phoenix Resources International's environmental impact assessment report.

No.	Tanggal Surat Keluar	Nomor Surat	Perusahaan	Perihal
105	07/02/2023	S.320/PDLUK/P2T/PLA.4/2/2023	Direktur PT Phoenix Resources International	Hasil Uji administrasi Lengkap dan Tindak Lanjut Andal dan RKL-RPL PT Phoenix Resources International
512	16/01/2023	S.138/PDLUK/P2T/PLA.4/1/2023	Direktur PT Phoenix Resources International	Penyampaian Penilaian Dokumen Lingkungan PT Phoenix Resources International
1262	18/11/2022	S.3096/PDLUK/P2T/PLA.4/11/2022	Enviroment & License Manager PT Phoenix Rsouces International	Arahan Persetujuan Lingkungan
3696	23/03/2022	S.652/PDLUK/PAUI/PLA.4/3/2022	Direktur PT Phoenik ResorcesInternational	Hasil Uji Administrasi Formulir KA PT Phoenix ResourcesInternational
4253	12/01/2022	S.95/PDLUK/PAUI/PLA.4/1/2022	Phoenix Resources International	Hasil Formulir Admiministasi Formulir KA PT Phenix Resources International

Source: Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2023. "Informasi surat keluar." Amdal.net, accessed on February 18, 2023. https://amdal. menlhk.go.id/info_persuratan/.

Figure 28. Construction site of PT Phoenix Resources International in Tarakan, North Kalimantan in December 2022.



Source: Environmental Paper Network (3°22'57.55"N-117°31'15.94"E)

Figure 29. High-resolution satellite imagery of Phoenix mill's site development in Tarakan, North Kalimantan from January 2022 until February 2023.



Source: Sentinel https://apps.sentinel-hub.com/, processing by Auriga Nusantara.

(see Figure 31). A first protest was held in October, organized by local students.¹²⁹ Two more protests were held by villagers of Juata Permai in November¹³⁰ and December 2022.¹³¹ According to several community members, the company promised to fix the damage, but the situation did not improve.

Residents, interviewed for this report in January 2023, also expressed concerns about the environmental degradation causing damage to their health and to the agricultural gardens from earth moving operations as well as the amount of dust generated by the heavy truck traffic. Local media stories have reported the allegation that excavation¹³² and construction¹³³ work was conducted without the necessary permits and involved other irregularities.¹³⁴

The Director of PT Phoenix Resources International was sent the findings of this report as pertaining to the Phoenix mill's development and plans. PT Phoenix Resources International did not respond to a request for comment on these findings.



Figure 30. Trucks transporting landfill to the construction site of PT Phoenix International Resources in December 2022.

Source: Site visit by Environmental Paper Network.

- 129 KalPress. 2022. "PMII Tarakan minta PT Phoenix Resource bertanggung jawab atas keresahan dampak Galian C." September 19, 2022. https://kalpress.id/2022/09/19/pmii-tarakan-minta-pt-phoenix-resource-bertanggung-jawab-atas-keresahan-dampak-galian-c/.
- 130 Radar Tarakan. 2022. "Dibuka kembali, warga perumahan PNS kawal janji". November 8, 2022. <u>https://radartarakan.jawapos.com/</u> daerah/tarakan/08/11/2022/dibuka-kembali-warga-perumahan-pns-kawal-janji/.
- 131 Rakyat Kaltara. 2022. "Warga tutup jalur masuk perusahaan". December 20, 2022. https://rakyatkaltara.prokal.co/read/ news/28197-warga-tutup-jalur-masuk-perusahaan.html.
- 132 KalPress. 2022. "PMII Tarakan minta PT Phoenix Resource bertanggung jawab atas keresahan dampak Galian C." September 19, 2022.
- 133 DetakKaltim. 2022. "PT TCM dilaporkan, bongkar batu dengan izin TUKS tidak aktif." January 16, 2022. https://detakkaltim.com/ index.php/2022/01/16/pt-tcm-dilaporkan-bongkar-batu-dengan-izin-tuks-tidak-aktif/.
- 134 DetakKaltim. 2022. "KSOP Tarakan beri isyarat tanggapi laporan pengaduan terhadap PT TCM". January 19, 2022. https://detakkaltim.com/index.php/2022/01/19/ksop-tarakan-beri-isyarat-tanggapi-laporan-pengaduan-terhadap-pt-tcm/.

Figure 31. Road closure sign near the Phoenix mill construction site in Tarakan.



Source: Rakyat Kaltara. December 2022. "Warga Tutup Jalur Masuk Perusahaan". Accessed in February 2023. https://rakyatkaltara.prokal. co/read/news/28197-warga-tutup-jalur-masuk-perusahaan.html.

PT PHOENIX RESOURCES INTERNATIONAL'S CORPORATE STRUCTURE AND LINKS TO RGE

Who owns, controls, and stands to benefit from the Phoenix mill? The ultimate beneficial owner of the pulp mill is obscured, but corporate records and other publicly-available sources provide strong indications that, based on the AFI definition of corporate group, PT Phoenix Resources International is under common control with PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari (BCL) and RGE. The RGE Group, PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari were sent a summary of the findings presented below and the determination of common control, but none of the three parties responded to requests for comment on the findings prior to publication.

PT Phoenix Resources International was established on June 2, 2021 with a registered address in Tarakan City, in Indonesia's North Kalimantan Province.¹³⁵ However, the company's chain of ownership leads to a parent company in the Cayman Islands, an offshore financial center where the identity of company shareholders is not available at public request (see Figure 32).

Phoenix's majority shareholder is Chung Hua United Resources Sdn Bhd, a company established in Malaysia on April 5, 2021.¹³⁶ Phoenix's minority shareholder, Chung Hua United Capital Sdn Bhd, is owned by the majority shareholder.¹³⁷ The majority shareholder is, in turn, owned by Phoenix Resources Holdings Limited, a company established in the Cayman Islands on May 20, 2021.¹³⁸

PULPING BORNEO

¹³⁵ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2021. Akta Pendirian Perseroan Terbatas. "PT Phoenix Resources International." June 2, 2021. Appendix B to ANDAL for PT Phoenix Resources International.

¹³⁶ Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "Chung Hua United Resources Sdn Bhd". Corporate profile, Government of Malaysia, accessed in February 2023.

¹³⁷ Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "Chung Hua United Capital Sdn Bhd". Corporate profile, Government of Malaysia, accessed in February 2023.

¹³⁸ Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "Chung Hua United Resources Sdn Bhd". Corporate profile, Government of Malaysia, accessed in February 2023.





Sources: Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Government of Indonesia; Companies Commission of Malaysia.

The registered shareholder of the Cayman Islands company is not identified in publicly-available documents, although a number of corporate details indicate Phoenix's links to the woodchip mill, BCL, in Balikpapan and the involvement of RGE.

Phoenix's Commissioner, Ivan Chandra, is also the Commissioner of BCL (see Figure 33).¹³⁹



Sources: Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Government of Indonesia.

¹³⁹ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Phoenix Resources International" Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

A current Director of Phoenix (starting in October 2022), Sardion Sihombing, was a Director of BCL from January 2020 until May 2022 (see Figure 34).¹⁴⁰ Until December 2019, according to his LinkedIn profile¹⁴¹, Sardion Sihombing was a Project Cost Controller for PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk, a pulp mill in North Sumatra acknowledged by RGE to be a related party.¹⁴² Prior to his employment at Toba Pulp beginning in January 2018, Sardion Sihombing was reportedly employed at other RGE companies since 2004.¹⁴³



Figure 34. Current Director of PT Phoenix Resources International is a former Director of PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari and a former employee of PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk.

Sources: Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Government of Indonesia; LinkedIn.

PULPING BORNEO

¹⁴⁰ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Phoenix Resources International". Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

¹⁴¹ LinkedIn. 2023. "Sardion Sihombing." Profile, accessed in February 2023. https://id.linkedin.com/in/sardion-sihombing-353a4a169.

¹⁴² RGE. 2022. "Statement on RGE's engagement with TPL." Press release, April 25, 2022. https://www.rgei.com/attachments/ article/1805/RGE%20statement%20on%20TPL_25%20April%202022.pdf.

¹⁴³ LinkedIn. 2023. "Sardion Sihombing." Profile, accessed in February 2023. <u>https://id.linkedin.com/in/sardion-sihombing-353a4a169</u>. Note: The public activity in the last year on Sardion Sihombing's LinkedIn account is almost exclusively "likes" of RGE/APRIL events, particularly ones involving the RGE founder's son and current RGE executive, Anderson Tanoto.

 Phoenix's two corporate shareholders in Malaysia – Chung Hua United Resources Sdn Bhd and Chung Hua United Capital Sdn Bhd – have the same two Directors, Tang Hong Hwee and Cheah Seng Keong, as BCL's majority shareholder in Malaysia (see Figure 35).¹⁴⁴ Tang Hong Hwee is also the Director of BCL's minority shareholder in Malaysia.¹⁴⁵

Figure 35. Common Directors of PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari corporate shareholders in Malaysia.



Sources: Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Indonesia; Companies Commission of Malaysia.

144 Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "Chung Hua United Capital Sdn Bhd". Corporate profile, Government of Malaysia, accessed in February 2023.

Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "Chung Hua United Resources Sdn Bhd". Corporate profile, Government of Malaysia, accessed in February 2023.

Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "BCL Industrial Sdn Bhd". Corporate profile, Government of Malaysia, accessed in February 2023.

¹⁴⁵ Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "Great Mahakam Sdn Bhd". Corporate profile, Government of Malaysia, accessed in February 2023.

 A founding shareholder and director of Chung Hua United Resources Snd Bhd and Chung Hua United Capital Sdn Bhd, Chew Chong Pan, is a Director, as of February 2023, of BCL's indirect shareholder, Taroko Investment Holdings Limited¹⁴⁶, and a former Director of PT Adindo Hutani Lestari's shareholder, Bioenergy Enterprises Sdn Bhd (see Figure 36).¹⁴⁷ He was reportedly employed by RGE between 2007 and 2014.¹⁴⁸



Figure 36. Chew Chong Pan's relationship to PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari.

Sources: Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Indonesia; Companies Commission of Malaysia, British Virgin Islands Financial Services Commission, RGE Group website, Apical letter to Aidenvironment.

Note: The information presented in this chart is current as of February 2023 and may not be comprehensive of all directors and shareholdings for the companies shown. Shareholdings and directorships may be based on historic data where indicated.

- 147 Companies Commission of Malaysia. 2023. "Bioenergy Enterprises Sdn Bhd". Corporate profile, Government of Malaysia, accessed in February 2023.
- 148 The following report references a 2017 letter from the President of RGE-owned Apical Group that confirms Chew Chong Pan's employment with RGE: Aidenvironment. 2021. *The Industrial Tree Operations of the Nusantara Fiber Group*. February 2021. https://www.aidenvironment.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Nusantara-Fiber-Report-Aidenvironment.pdf.

PULPING BORNEO

DEFORESTATION IN THE RGE GROUP'S SUPPLY CHAIN AND RGE'S HIDDEN LINKS TO A NEW MEGA-SCALE PULP MILL IN NORTH KALIMANTAN, INDONESIA

¹⁴⁶ BVI Financial Services Commission. 2023. "Taroko Investment Holdings Limited." Company No. 2026731. Registrar of Corporate Affairs, Directors last updated on December 20, 2019.

Phoenix's corporate shareholders in Malaysia incorporated the company in May 2021 at the same office address, Room 1, 3rd floor Wisma Kwong Siew in Kuala Lumpur, as BCL's corporate shareholders previously used (see Figure 37).¹⁴⁹ This office is the location of a corporate services firm, and outside the small office there is a list of more than 400 companies that are registered at that office (see Figure 38). As of February 2023, Phoenix's corporate shareholders have the same "business address" as BCL's corporate shareholders on the 5th floor of Setiawalk, a building in Puchong, Malaysia (see Figure 39). It is noted that the use of an address at a corporate services firm is a common practice and does not necessarily indicate any improper or illegal activity.

Figure 37. Malaysian corporate shareholders of PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari shared a "registered" office and currently share a "business" office.



Sources: Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Indonesia; Companies Commission of Malaysia.

¹⁴⁹ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, Accessed in February 2023.

Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Phoenix Resources International." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

Nama	Jabatan	Alamat	Nama	Jabatan	Alamat
CHUNG HUA UNITED RESOURCES SDN. BHD, Nomor SK :-	·	Room 1, 3 RD Floor, Wisma Kwong Siew, 149, Jalan Tun H.S. Lee 5000 Kuala Lumpur.	GREAT MAHAKAM SDN. BHD., Nomor SK :-	·	Room 1, 3RD Floor, Wisma Kwong Siew, 149, Jalan Tun H.S. Lee 50000 Kuala Lumpur.
CHUNG HUA UNITED CAPITAL SDN. BHD, Nomor SK :-		Room 1, 3RD Floor, Wisma Kwong Siew, 149, Jalan Tun H.S.Lee 50000 Kuala Lumpur.	BCL INDUSTRIAL SDN. BHD., Nomor SK :-	ID	Room 1, 3 RD Floor, Wisma Kwong Siew, 149, Jalan Tun H.S. Lee, 50000 Kuala Lumpur.

Figure 38. Registered address for the corporate shareholders of both PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari in 2021 at Wisma Kwong Siew in Kuala Lumpur.

Source: Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Government of Indonesia. Building and office photos from site visit in January 2023.









PULPING BORNEO

DEFORESTATION IN THE RGE GROUP'S SUPPLY CHAIN AND RGE'S HIDDEN LINKS TO A NEW MEGA-SCALE PULP MILL IN NORTH KALIMANTAN, INDONESIA

Figure 39. "Business address" of the corporate shareholders of both PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, as of February 2023.

Business Address	: I-01-05, 5TH FLOOR, BLOCK I
	SETIAWALK, PERSIARAN WAWASAN
	PUSAT BANDAR PUCHONG
	PUCHONG
	SELANGOR



Source: Companies Commission of Malaysia, building and office photos from site visit in April 2023.

Note: Receptionist at this location indicated that all offices for this address were currently vacant and available for rent and that the "address" could also be rented.

• The address at Phoenix's current registered address is similar to the office at its previous one: a corporate services firm appears to occupy the office, and outside is a list of around 500 companies that are apparently registered at the modest office (see Figure 40). BCL's registered address as of February 2023 is in the same building, two floors below where Phoenix is registered. It is noted that the use of an address at a corporate services firm is a common practice and does not necessarily indicate any improper or illegal activity.

Figure 40. Photos of PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari's office location in Kuala Lumpur.



Source: Building and office photos from site visit in January 2023.

 PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Tarakan Chip Mill (TCM) share an address¹⁵⁰ and appear to operate at the same construction site on Tarakan island.^{151,152} TCM's complex corporate ownership chain indicates numerous links to RGE, including companies that were previously owned by RGE founding Chairman Sukanto Tanoto and others that shared an address with APRIL's head office in Jakarta (see Figure 41).¹⁵³

Figure 41. Shareholders, corporate officials and addresses related to PT Tarakan Chip Mill at present and historically.



Sources: Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Government of Indonesia; PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk Annual Reports; RGE Group website; APRIL Supplier List; LinkedIn.

Note: The information presented in this chart is current as of February 2023 and may not be comprehensive of all directors and shareholdings for the companies shown. Shareholdings and directorships may be based on historic data where indicated.

- 150 Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Tarakan Chip Mill." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023. Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Phoenix Resources International." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.
- 151 As observed on a site visit in January 2023.
- 152 Confirmation was obtained from conversations with local media sources that the respective locations of PT Tarakan Chip Mill and PT Phoenix Resources International are side-by-side.
- 153 Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Tarakan Chip Mill." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023. Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Anugrah Hijau Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023. Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Foresta Hijau Lestari." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

Taken together, the common management personnel and shared office locations between PT Phoenix Resources International, the company developing a pulp mill in North Kalimantan, and PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, the company with a woodchip mill in East Kalimantan, strongly indicate that these are entities under common control (see Figure 42). In a previous section to this report on RGE's corporate links with PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, it was determined that the evidence strongly indicates PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari is under common control with the RGE Group, according to the Accountability Framework Initiative's definition of "corporate group". Therefore, the evidence also strongly indicates that PT Phoenix Resources International and the RGE Group are under common control. The link between PT Phoenix Resources International and PT Tarakan Chip Mill, given PT Tarakan Chip Mill's extensive links with the RGE Group, provides further support for the determination that PT Phoenix Resources International and the RGE Group are under common control.





Sources: Ministry of Law and Human Rights, Government of Indonesia; Companies Commission of Malaysia; British Virgin Islands Financial Services Commission, PT Toba Pulp Lestari Tbk Annual Reports; RGE Group website; APRIL Supplier List; Apical letter to Aidenvironment; LinkedIn.

Note: The information presented in this chart is current as of February 2023 and may not be comprehensive of all directors and shareholdings for the companies shown. Shareholdings and directorships may be based on historic data where indicated.

PULPING BORNEO

DEFORESTATION IN THE RGE GROUP'S SUPPLY CHAIN AND RGE'S HIDDEN LINKS TO A NEW MEGA-SCALE PULP MILL IN NORTH KALIMANTAN, INDONESIA

PROJECTED WOOD REQUIREMENT

The Environmental Impact Assessment for PT Phoenix Resources International's project in Tarakan indicates that each of the mill's two planned pulp production lines will require 1,680,000 green metric tons (GMT) of wood to produce 850,000 tons/year of semi-chemical pulp. This implies a conversion factor of approximately 1.98 GMT per ton of semi-chemical pulp.¹⁵⁴

The AMDAL projects that during Phase I, the mill will operate pulp line #1 at full capacity beginning in 2024, thereby consuming 1,680,000 GMT per year of pulpwood. During Phase II, pulp line #2 is projected to start operating in 2027 and to be at full capacity by the following year. Assuming that both pulp lines are semi-chemical pulp and operate at the same efficiency levels, the mill is projected to require 3,360,000 GMT per year of pulpwood from 2028 onward (see Table 3).

Over the nine-year period, 2024–2032, the Phoenix mill is projected to consume just under 25.0 million GMT of wood to produce 12.5 million tons of semi-chemical pulp (see Table 3). At a conversion rate of 1.142 cubic meters (m³) per GMT, this is equivalent to 28.5 million m³ of wood.

Table 3. Projected pulpwood requirement of PT Phoenix Resources International's Tarakan pulpmill, 2024–2032.

	Pulp Grade	Unit	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030	2031	2032	Total
Pulp Line 1	Semi- chemical	Tons	850,000	850,000	850,000	850,000	850,000	850,000	850,000	850,000	850,000	7,650,000
Pulp Line 2	Semi- chemical	Tons				637,500	850,000	850,000	850,000	850,000	850,000	4,887,500
Total Pulp	Semi- chemical	Tons	850,000	850,000	850,000	1,487,500	1,700,000	1,700,000	1,700,000	1,700,000	1,700,000	12,537,500
Wood Conversion		GMT/ Ton	1.98	1.98	1.98	1.98	1.98	1.98	1.98	1.98	1.98	1.98
Total Pulpwood		GMT	1,683,000	1,683,000	1,683,000	2,945,250	3,366,000	3,366,000	3,366,000	3,366,000	3,366,000	24,824,250

Source: PT Phoenix Resources International. 2023. ANDAL Rencana Pembangunan Industri Bubur Kertas (Pulp), TUKS, dan Sarana Pendukungnya.

The AMDAL provides few details concerning where Phoenix will obtain this volume of wood. The assessment indicates that most of this wood will be supplied by 12 suppliers; however, the names and locations of these supplier companies are not provided.

Other than the wood requirement projection, the AMDAL provides no impact analysis of the upstream timber operations as affected by the downstream processing plan.

DEFORESTATION RISK IN KALIMANTAN AND PAPUA

PT Phoenix Resources International's development of a mega-scale pulp mill on Tarakan island is likely to pose new threats to natural forests in Kalimantan and Papua. Wood is a pulp mill's primary raw material, and a mill producing on the scale projected by Phoenix will need approximately 3.9 million cubic meters of wood per year. That is equivalent to about 100,000 truckloads of wood every year that the pulp mill operates at

¹⁵⁴ The Environmental Impact Assessment provides no explanation of the empirical basis for its use of this conversion factor. An industry source indicates that production of one ton of Bleached Chemical Thermo-Mechanical Pulp (BCTMP) typically requires 2.7 m³ of wood, or approximately 2.4 GMT.

its designed capacity. This demand for wood will put a structural pressure on the surrounding landscape to produce sufficient volumes of fiber for many decades to come.

In Sumatra, the steady expansion of pulp processing since the late-1990s drove deforestation on a massive scale. Since 1994, the total forest cover change within APRIL's and APRIL's "supply partners" concessions is 531,350 ha, according to the Forest Stewardship Council (see Figure 43). The forest clearance provided "mixed tropical hardwood" (MTH) logs to APRIL's pulp mill and established monoculture plantations of Acacia and Eucalyptus.

Figure 43. In May 2014, excavators worked near a recently deforested area in the concession area of PT Riau Andalan Pulp & Paper, APRIL's largest wood supplier, in Riau Province.



Source: Ulet Ifansasti/Greenpeace.

It is common practice in the pulp industry to build a mill close to its wood supply, as delivered wood cost is a key driver of a mill's overall cost-competitiveness. With the construction of the Phoenix mill in Tarakan, it is reasonable to assume that the mill's significant demand for pulpwood logs will drive new clearing of natural forests and the development of new areas of monoculture pulpwood plantations within a commercial distance of the mill site. In this way, the forests in North Kalimantan and the surrounding provinces in Kalimantan, Sulawesi, and Papua, as well as across the border in the Malaysian state of Sabah, may be threatened. And the most at-risk forests are those within forestry concessions already controlled by or linked to RGE and its long-term suppliers (see Figure 44).

The remaining natural forest in the three existing suppliers analyzed above – PT Industrial Forest Plantation, PT Adindo Hutani Lestari, and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya – is just over 100,383 hectares according to Nusantara Atlas.¹⁵⁵ PT Tanjung Redeb Hutani, in East Kalimantan, was expected to supply 35,000 m³ of wood to BCL in 2022 but reportedly did not

PULPING BORNEO DEFORESTATION IN THE RGE GROUP'S SUPPLY CHAIN AND RGE'S HIDDEN LINKS TO A NEW MEGA-SCALE PULP MILL IN NORTH KALIMANTAN, INDONESIA

¹⁵⁵ Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Remaining Forest 2021 layer, accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.

deliver any.¹⁵⁶ Previously, between 2015 and 2017, PT Tanjung Redeb Hutani supplied wood to APRIL's pulp mill, PT Riau Andalan Pulp and Paper.¹⁵⁷ Given BCL's planned supply from PT Tanjung Redeb Hutani and APRIL's history of sourcing wood from the company, its concession area is included in this forest risk analysis. PT Tanjung Redeb Hutani has 76,813 ha of natural forest remaining in its concession, according to the Nusantara Atlas.



Figure 44. Map of RGE-linked forestry concessions, PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, and Phoenix pulp mill.

Source: Forest layer from C. Vancutsem, F. Achard, J.-F. Pekel, G. Vieilledent, S. Carboni, D. Simonetti, J. Gallego, L.E.O.C. Aragão, R. Nasi. 2021. "Long-term (1990–2019) monitoring of forest cover changes in the humid tropics." Science Advances. https://forobs.jrc.ec.europa.eu/TMF/.

An RGE-linked company named PT Kesatuan Mas Abadi owns a HTI concession in the Teluk Bintuni District of West Papua Province, which has 79,548 ha of natural forest remaining according to Nusantara Atlas (see Figure 44). PT Kesatuan Mas Abadi's shareholders, as of February 2023, are two RGE-owned mills under Apical: PT Kutai Refinery Nusantara and PT Sari Dumai Sejati.¹⁵⁸ PT Kesatuan Mas Abadi has a HTI license for 99,609 ha south of Bintuni Bay, and 80% of the area (79,548 ha) has natural forest according to Nusantara Atlas.

Two RGE companies, PT Damai Setiatama Timber and PT Mukti Artha Yoga, also own HPH (*Hak Pengusahaan Hutan*) selective-logging concessions in the Mappi District of South Papua Province,¹⁵⁹ which together have remaining natural forest of 381,233 ha according to Nusantara Atlas (see Figures 45 and 46). Under the Government of Indonesia's controversial Omnibus Law passed in 2021, selective logging concessions can now be converted to multi-use forestry licenses that incorporate monoculture silviculture of pulpwood species.¹⁶⁰

¹⁵⁶ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2022. "PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.

¹⁵⁷ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2015–2017. "PT Riau Andalan Pulp and Paper". Rencana dan Realisasi Pemenuhan Bahan Baku Industri Primer Hasil Hutan Kayu (RPBBI), Government of Indonesia.

¹⁵⁸ Ministry of Law and Human Rights. 2023. "PT Kesatuan Mas Abadi." Corporate profile, Government of Indonesia, accessed in February 2023.

¹⁵⁹ Ministry of Environment and Forestry. 2019. Buku Basis Data Geospasial Lingkungan Hidup dan Kehutanan. Government of Indonesia. https://sigap.menlhk.go.id/sigap-trial/files/pages/buku-basis-data-geospasial-2019.pdf.

¹⁶⁰ Government of Indonesia. 2021. Peraturan Pemerintah Nomor 23 Tahun 2021. https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Details/161853/ pp-no-23-tahun-2021. See also: Kartodihardjo, Hariadi. 2021. "Multiusaha kehutanan yang adil." Forest Digest, May 3, 2021. https:// www.forestdigest.com/detail/1133/bagaimana-menerapkan-multiusaha-kehutanan-yang-adil.
Susetvo, Pramono Dwi 2021 "Beherana problem multiusaha kehutanan" Forest Digest, July 7, 2021. https://www.forestdigest.

Susetyo, Pramono Dwi. 2021. "Beberapa problem multiusaha kehutanan." *Forest Digest*, July 7, 2021. <u>https://www.forestdigest.</u> com/detail/1198/problem-multiusaha-kehutanan.

Together, these forestry concessions in the regions of Kalimantan and Papua contain 637,933 ha of natural forest according to Nusantara Atlas, an area ten times as large as Indonesia's capital city of Jakarta.¹⁶¹ These may not be the only forest areas threatened by wood demand from the Phoenix pulp mill project in North Kalimantan, but they are likely to be among the first, given RGE's links to the companies holding these forestry concessions.



Figure 45. Map of remaining natural forest inside the concession of PT Kesatuan Mas Abadi.



Figure 46. Map of remaining natural forest inside the concession of PT Damai Setiatama Timber.

Source: Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Remaining Forest 2021 layer. Accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/. Source: Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Remaining Forest 2021 layer. Accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.



Figure 47. Map of remaining natural forest inside the concession of PT Mukti Artha Yoga.

Source: Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Remaining Forest 2021 layer. Accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.

RGE was sent a summary of this report's findings on its links to forestry concessions in the provinces of West Papua and South Papua and others presented above relating to natural forest cover, but it did not respond to a request for comment prior to publication. Similarly, PT Phoenix Resources International did not respond to a request for comment on the finding that its projected wood demand would likely put pressure on natural forests in Kalimantan and Papua.

APRIL's Stakeholder Advisory Committee and KPMG were also presented with these findings and given an opportunity to comment prior to publication. Responding generally to the findings of the report, one of the SAC's co-chairs, Dr. Jeffrey Sayer, wrote, "The SAC exists to provide advice and address stakeholder concerns on issues relating to the fiber supply for the Kerinci mill.... Most of the issues that you raise, therefore, fall outside the SAC mandate but they are none the less of interest and we will continue to review them at our future meetings.... We take the opportunity to remind EPN and other stakeholders that SAC's mandate is restricted to providing independent oversight and recommendations on APRIL's implementation of its SFMP...."

KPMG responded, "The questions that you have posed in your report pertain to the Kalimantan mill expansion. KPMG was hired by APRIL Group's Stakeholder Advisory Committee to provide limited assurance over the Sustainable Forest Management Policy (SFMP) 2.0 commitments specific to APRIL's supply chain for its Kerinci mill. The scope of our assessment does not include the broader RGE Group or other mills."

¹⁶¹ Nusantara Atlas. 2023. Remaining Forest 2021 layer, accessed in February 2023. https://nusantara-atlas.org/.

Conclusion

Despite its highly publicized commitment to eradicate deforestation from its supply chain, the Royal Golden Eagle Group, and its ultimate beneficiary Sukanto Tanoto, have continued to drive deforestation through a network of companies under its control in Indonesia. Weaknesses in the scope of RGE's existing sustainability policies and a failure to apply these policies to all companies under common control with RGE – notably including PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, Asia Symbol, and PT Riau Andalan Pulp & Paper – have resulted in the destruction of over 37,000 ha of rainforests since RGE's "No Deforestation" policy took effect in June 2015. Much of the areas destroyed were critical habitat of Bornean orangutans.

The organizations publishing this report have growing concerns that RGE's plans for the expansion of its Riau Andalan mill in central Sumatra, together with the construction of a new mega-scale pulp mill by PT Phoenix Resources International in northeastern Kalimantan, will drive a new wave of deforestation in Borneo and Papua. This report has identified over 600,000 ha of natural forests remaining within the boundaries of forest plantation concessions in North, East, and Central Kalimantan that supply PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari and in one plantation concession and two selective logging concessions held by RGE-linked companies in South Papua and West Papua. It is our assessment that these forests will be most immediately at risk from the capacity expansion at the Riau Andalan mill and the development of the Phoenix mill on Tarakan Island.

The facts about deforestation, planned pulp mill capacity, and corporate connections are well-established, as presented in this report. What APRIL's Stakeholder Advisory Committee and KPMG do with this information is likely to play a key role in determining the future impacts of RGE's operations. Will the SAC and KPMG overlook the ongoing forest destruction and future risks due to RGE's use of complex corporate structures, thereby enabling such practices to continue? Or will they hold RGE and APRIL accountable for complying with the sustainability policies they have established and promoted? Similarly, will the Forest Stewardship Council continue with the process to end disassociation with APRIL, even as there is ongoing forest destruction in RGE Group's pulp supply chain and a new mill being built without a sustainable fiber supply in an ecologically sensitive region? The manner in which the SAC, KPMG, and the FSC respond to the issues highlighted in this report will have a strong influence over whether APRIL and the RGE Group – and other companies under their common control – ultimately ever achieve their stated goal of having "No Deforestation" in their supply chains.

APRIL and the RGE Group have an opportunity to demonstrate a renewed commitment to the sustainability policies they adopted in 2015, which include commitments to "No Deforestation," "Responsible Management of Peatlands," and "Respect [for] the Rights of Indigenous Peoples and Communities," among other measures. The use of corporate proxies to carry out controversial operations is no longer an effective strategy to circumvent the implementation of the companies' policy commitments. This report provides ample evidence that RGE and APRIL will be held accountable for the entire corporate group's performance on sustainability issues.



Recommendations

RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE ROYAL GOLDEN EAGLE GROUP AND ITS AFFILIATED COMPANIES IN ORDER TO COMPLY WITH THEIR STATED PUBLIC COMMITMENTS TO ELIMINATE DEFORESTATION IN THEIR SUPPLY CHAIN:

- 1. The RGE Group must provide an accountable response to the findings of this report, including a credible investigation into how its "No Deforestation" commitment failed to prevent deforestation from entering its supply chain.
 - 1.1 The RGE Group must issue a group-wide directive instructing all RGE companies and contractors to immediately stop purchasing wood from suppliers that have engaged in deforestation after June 2015, including PT Industrial Forest Plantations, PT Adindo Hutani Lestari and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya.
 - 1.2 The RGE Group must engage a credible third party to conduct the abovementioned investigation and commit to issuing a public report of its results, together with an explanation of how RGE will strengthen its policies to more effectively prevent deforestation in its supply chain.
- 2. The RGE Group must enforce No Deforestation, No Peatland and No Exploitation (NDPE) practices in a verifiable and accountable manner across the entire corporate group, as defined by the Accountability Framework Initiative.
 - 2.1 The RGE Group must immediately issue a revised corporate group policy that requires all the entities under its control to adhere to 'No Deforestation, No Peatland and No Exploitation' (NDPE) practices in their operations and supply chains.
 - 2.2 The RGE Group must be fully transparent about its corporate relationships with PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari and PT Phoenix Resources International, and all other entities under common control with the RGE Group, as defined by the Accountability Framework Initiative's definition of "corporate group." This should include disclosure of all direct and indirect ownership linkages and other mechanisms of control.

3. The RGE Group must ensure PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari adopts and adheres to a No Deforestation, No Peatland and No Exploitation (NDPE) policy that is verifiable and accountable.

- 3.1 PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari must adopt a No Deforestation, No Peatland and No Exploitation (NDPE) policy, with a deforestation cut-off date of June 2015 and effective mechanisms for verification and accountability for external stakeholders.
- 3.2 PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari must stop sourcing wood from PT Industrial Forest Plantations, PT Adindo Hutani Lestari and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya after it confirms the land cover change results documented in this report.

- 3.3 PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari must declare its ultimate beneficial owner.
- 3.4 PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari must publish all suppliers and spatial data on the boundaries of its sourcing areas, its mill capacity, annual wood requirement, and a credible and longterm wood supply plan.

4. The RGE Group must ensure PT Phoenix Resources International adopts and adheres to a No Deforestation, No Peatland and No Exploitation (NDPE) policy that is verifiable and accountable.

- 4.1 PT Phoenix Resources International must adopt a No Deforestation, No Peatland and No Exploitation (NDPE) policy, with a deforestation cut-off date of June 2015 and effective mechanisms for verification and accountability by external parties.
- 4.2 PT Phoenix Resources International must declare its ultimate beneficial owner to ensure accountability for any negative impacts of the mill's construction and/or operation.
- 4.3 PT Phoenix Resources International must publish its pulp mill capacity, annual wood requirement, and a credible and longterm wood supply plan. Once operational, the mill must disclose all suppliers and spatial data on the boundaries of its sourcing areas on an annual basis.

5. The RGE Group must ensure Asia Symbol completes the investigation it has announced in response to the findings of this report and shares with stakeholders both the results of this investigation and any actions undertaken to remove deforestation from its supply chain.

- 5.1 Asia Symbol must disclose what "immediate steps" it has taken "to investigate the allegations" raised in the present report and what findings have resulted from this investigation.
- 5.2 Asia Symbol must disclose what "necessary actions based on the findings" it will undertake to ensure it meets Asia Symbol's Wood and Pulp Sourcing Policy and the RGE Group's commitment to No Deforestation and to responsible sourcing of pulp and wood chips.
- 5.3 Asia Symbol must disclose what steps it has undertaken in its "review of [the company's] wood chip and pulp sourcing due diligence system to address any gaps and further strengthen the implementation of [its] No Deforestation commitment."

6. The RGE Group must ensure APRIL strengthens its No Deforestation, No Peatland and No Exploitation (NDPE) policy and demonstrates self-sufficiency in plantation-based wood supplies before expanding its pulp capacity.

- 6.1 APRIL must stop sourcing wood from PT Adindo Hutani Lestari and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya after it confirms the land cover change results documented in this report.
- 6.2 APRIL must strengthen its sustainability policies to align with NDPE benchmarks and enforce its NDPE policy, using a June 2015 cut-off date for deforestation. The policy must be enforced across the corporate group, using the Accountability Framework initiative definition of corporate group.
- 6.3 APRIL must demonstrate fiber "self-sufficiency" on "owned" and "long term supply partners" before APRIL or any entity under common control expands pulp capacity or builds a new mill.
- 6.4 APRIL must disclose the scope of work and contractual terms on which it has engaged its Stakeholder Advisory Committee to monitor the group's wood supply practices and adherence to its sustainability commitments.

6.5 APRIL must disclose the scope of work and contractual terms on which it and the SAC have engaged KPMG to monitor the group's wood supply practices and adherence to its sustainability commitments.

7. The RGE Group must ensure affiliated forest concession-holders and plantation companies and third party wood suppliers cease clearance of natural forests and protect all HCV areas and HCS forests

- 7.1 PT Industrial Forest Plantation must immediately stop clearing natural forests.
- 7.2 The RGE Group must make publicly available complete copies of all HCV and HCS assessments that have been conducted in forestry and plantation concessions managed by RGE-affiliated companies and by third party wood suppliers, and commit to releasing all HCV and HCS assessments conducted in the future.
- 7.3 All RGE affiliated forestry and plantation companies and third party wood suppliers must adhere to the High Carbon Stock Approach in full, including its quality assurance requirements for integrated HCV-HCS Assessments.
- 7.4 RGE must ensure that the forestry concessions documented above in the regions of Kalimantan and Papua that contain 637,933 ha of 'at-risk' natural forests, maintain and monitor the HCV areas and HCS forests within their concessions in a manner that is verifiable and accountable by external parties.

Appendix A. Response to findings from Asia Symbol



March 31 2022

Mr. Sergio BaffoniEnvironmental Paper Network% ARA, August Bebel Str. 16-1833602 Bielefeld, Germany

Dear Mr. Baffoni,

Asia Symbol (Shandong) Pulp and Paper (ASSD) has recently been notified of a letter sent by EPN on March 22 2023 to RGE, flagging concerns on the wood chips sourced by Asia Symbol's pulp and paper mill in Rizhao, China from PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari in 2021 and 2022.

Asia Symbol's <u>Wood and Pulp Sourcing Policy</u> and Sustainability Policy comply with RGE's Forestry, Fibre, Pulp & Paper <u>Sustainability Framework</u> which commits the Group to No Deforestation and to responsible sourcing of pulp and wood chips. We apply responsible sourcing across our wood chip and pulp supply chain and are prepared to re-evaluate and terminate the relationship with a supplier who cannot or will not meet the objectives of our Wood and Pulp Sourcing Policy.

We take the allegations raised by EPN seriously that the wood chips sourced from BCL have been obtained from companies that are alleged to have committed deforestation. We have taken immediate steps to investigate the allegations and commit to undertake the necessary actions based on the findings.

To assist in our investigations, we request any relevant shape files from EPN's sources related to these claims, with particular reference to PT Industrial Forest Plantation, PT Adindo Hutani Lestari and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya, as noted in your letter.

Further to conducting an investigation on this matter, Asia Symbol will also undertake a review of our wood chip and pulp sourcing due diligence system to address any gaps and further strengthen the implementation of our No Deforestation commitment. We will also continue to undertake third party verification on the implementation of our wood chip and pulp sourcing per our policy.

Thank you for bringing this matter to our attention and for the opportunity to offer clarifications.

Kind Regards,

changele

Max Cheng Xin Kai Head of wood chips procurement and trading

Appendix B. Response to findings from APRIL



March 31 2022

Mr. Sergio Baffoni Environmental Paper Network % ARA, August Bebel Str. 16-18 33602 Bielefeld, Germany

Dear Mr. Baffoni

Thank for your letter dated 22 March 2023 regarding a report on alleged deforestation in Kalimantan and for the opportunity to share with you our comments on issues pertinent to the APRIL Group.

No Deforestation commitments

APRIL stand by the No Deforestation commitments we made in 2015 and reiterate that these apply to all areas where we operate, including our full supply chain.

We have announced publicly and been clear that our downstream diversification in paperboard at our operations in Pangkalan Kerinci in Riau Province is fully aligned with our Sustainable Forest Management Policy (SFMP 2.0) and APRIL2030 commitments, as well as all legal and regulatory requirements. Fibre supply to meet current and future production capacity will come entirely from plantation fibre, subject to SFMP 2.0 compliance, and will not necessitate or cause any new forest conversion.

APRIL fibre suppliers are subject to strict due diligence standards, compliance monitoring and third party assurance. During the term of their contract with APRIL, third party suppliers are also subject to monitoring of their compliance with our policies and procedures, and are subject to annual external assurance undertaken by an independent third party to assess compliance with our SFMP 2.0. This includes the identification and reporting of fires. The suppliers' list and concession maps are publicly available on APRIL's Sustainability Dashboard.

On the long-term fiber supply, the company has adopted a target of a 50% gain in fibre plantation productivity by 2030. Over the past three years, we have gained more productivity from the same land bank, posting a 29% increase in fibre yield. As a result of our commitment to R&D, more than 60% of our total plantation base is now on the higher end of our productivity range. In comparison, improvements in our production processes for wood conversion have reduced up to 10% of fibre required per pulp production ton.

Our growth is based on sustainable intensification, land optimization and the adoption of precision silviculture techniques. On the production side, efficiencies are generated by the vertical integration of our mill and plantation operations and ongoing R&D in alternative raw materials.

FSC Remedy Process

With regards to the current and ongoing FSC process, we would direct you to our case page on the FSC website for details (FSC Case Page), but specifically:

Page 1 of 2



- In November 2020, APRIL Group shared an acknowledgement of harm letter with FSC. Mr. Kim Carstensen, FSC Managing Director, "welcomes the acknowledgement of environmental and social harm from the APRIL Group and the commitment to fully and sincerely engage in the process of remediation."
- In December 2020, FSC published the baseline analysis. The analysis notes that tangible steps were taken by APRIL towards adopting suitable social and environmental values and more responsible business practices, demonstrating transparency, steps towards improving stakeholder engagement, and no further evidence of significant forest conversion to plantations.

We remain committed to working with FSC and stakeholders on the development and implementation of our remedy plan, following the Remedy Framework, and will continue to work towards ending disassociation.

PT Adindo Hutan Lestari and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya

We reiterate our previous responses to EPN regarding PT Adindo Hutani Lestari and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya, shared with you in October and November 2020.

PT. Adindo Hutani Lestari (PT. AHL): In 2020, we confirmed, based on evidence from spatial analysis and ground verification, that no deforestation occurred in the areas highlighted by Auriga in its report, and that there was no breach of our SFMP 2.0 commitments. This is detailed in our <u>comprehensive responseⁱ</u> to Auriga's claims.

PT. Fajar Surya Swadaya (PT. FSS): We confirmed in 2018 that the company was an open market supplier of plantation wood. Supply commenced in June 2017 following completion of an internal due diligence process. APRIL did not purchase and use natural forest wood from this supplier. Our due diligence noted that PT FSS had commissioned Tropenbos International to conduct a High Conservation Value assessment of their concessions in April 2015. This was the basis for plantation development carried out in non-HCV areas in 2016-2017. This is explained further in our <u>detailed response</u>ⁱⁱ to stakeholders.

We thank you again for the opportunity to provide our comments on the concerns you raised and would stand ready to respond to any further queries you may have.

Yours sincerely,

Lucita Jasmin Director of Sustainability & External Affairs, APRIL Group

ⁱ https://www.aprildialog.com/en/2020/10/05/april-responds-to-auriga-on-pt-ahl/ ⁱⁱ https://www.aprildialog.com/en/2018/08/15/april-response-to-auriga-report/

Page 2 of 2

Appendix C. Response to findings from APRIL's Stakeholder Advisory Committee (SAC)



Dear Sergio,

We thank EPN warmly for sharing your concerns about recent developments in East and North Kalimantan. Several SAC members have a long history and continuing engagement with conservation activities in these areas. We are well connected with local NGOs, government agencies, and many local people. So, several of us have a special interest in developments in the area. However only a very few of the issues that you raise relate specifically to the SAC's mandate and/or areas of expertise.

The SAC exists to provide advice and address stakeholder concerns on issues relating to the fiber supply for the Kerinci mill. A particular focus is on the ecological integrity of the forests in the fiber supply areas.

Most of the issues that you raise, therefor, fall outside the SAC mandate but they are none the less of interest and we will continue to review them at our future meetings.. The issues will be on the agenda for our face to face meeting in June of this year. SAC operates on an annual cycle of investigations and much of the field work is performed by KPMG. The field work plans for this year are already agreed and are underway and the results of this year's assurance process against APRIL's Sustainable Forest Management Policy (SFMP 2.0) will be made public in the second quarter. The KPMG undertakes annual assessments in relation to APRIL's supply chain for the Kerinci mills rather than the broader RGE group and is in the process of reporting its work on APRIL activities during 2022, including supply chains from Kalimantan. The team has recently been in the field in East and North Kalimantan and we are awaiting their report.

The SAC is not aware of any links between PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, the Phoenix mill with companies in the RGE group. PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari does not supply chips to the Riau mill

We have requested APRIL to look into the points in your letter that are pertinent to the SAC mandate particularly the issues raised on PT Adindo Hutani Lestari and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya. We do, however, note that APRIL publicly addressed many of these concerns in 2020.

The SAC continually monitors supply to the Kerinci mill and examines yield figures to ensure that they correspond to mill capacity – we have been satisfied that the increased capacity needs can be met through yield increases on existing plantations. The SAC is reiterating its recommendation to APRIL to enhance public communications about long- term wood supply plans in order to address any concerns about risks of deforestation. The SAC continues to play its role in ensuring APRIL's compliance with its SFMP 2.0 for all fiber supply to the APRIL mills in Riau. The SAC notes, and expects APRIL to confirm, its earlier public statement that fiber supply to meet current and future production capacity will come entirely from plantation fiber. All will



be subject to SFMP 2.0 compliance, and will not entail any new forest conversion. We are satisfied that at present there are no issues of concern.

We take the opportunity to remind EPN and other stakeholders that SAC's mandate is restricted to providing independent oversight and recommendations on APRIL's implementation of its SFMP and since its launch in November 2020, to also advise APRIL on the implementation of its 2030 sustainability agenda.

Members of the SAC recognize that the biggest obstacle to forest conservation in Indonesia is the persistence of widespread poverty in rural areas We consider it urgent that land in Kalimantan be brought under effective management whether for conservation or sustainable plantations. Estate crops in the extensive degraded areas in East and North Kalimantan can bring benefits to populations living in these areas. Groups such as EPN might consider factoring in these considerations when taking positions on land use. Meantime, the SAC will continue to do its part in ensuring no further deforestation will be caused by or associated with fiber supply to APRIL's mills.

Sincerely

Appendix D. Response to findings from KPMG Canada

Thank you for your inquiry.

The questions that you have posed in your report pertain to the Kalimantan mill expansion. KPMG was hired by APRIL Group's Stakeholder Advisory Committee to provide limited assurance over the Sustainable Forest Management Policy (SFMP) 2.0 commitments specific to APRIL's supply chain for its Kerinci mill. The scope of our assessment does not include the broader RGE Group or other mills. We are therefore unable to comment on your findings.

KPMG in Canada is committed to delivering high-quality services in accordance with applicable regulated and international standards and independence requirements.

We objectively report on the SFMP 2.0 commitments that we have been asked to measure against and are currently in the process of reporting on APRIL's activities during 2022. As part of this transparent process, all third-party assurance findings are made publicly available.

Katarina Lukich (she/her) ESG Communications National Marketing & Communications

KPMG Management Services LP klukich@kpmg.ca

Appendix E. Response to findings from the Forest Stewardship Council

Forest Stewardship Council®

13 April 2023



Environmental Paper Network (EPN) Mr. Sergio Baffoni http://www.environmentalpaper.org Email: Sergio.Baffoni@environmentalpaper.Org

SUBJECT: RESPONSE TO LETTER FROM 23 MARCH 2023 ON RGE FINDINGS

Dear Sergio,

Thank you for providing FSC an opportunity to respond to the points in your report prior to its publication. We will also address your inquiry regarding the Djarum case and how FSC is dealing with the withdrawal of certification by organizations with active Policy for Association allegations. Please note that FSC does not have the details to comment on specific findings related to RGE and its affiliates and activities. RGE should answer to some of your findings that FSC is not able to provide comment on, but we have taken note of these findings and look forward to the publication of the report.

It is integral to FSC that APRIL engage with EPN and other stakeholders on critical and emerging issues around its activities and impacts on Indonesian forests. The quality of this engagement and ability for APRIL to build trust with stakeholders and rights holders in the remedy process is a key success factor. We hope you are able to have a fruitful exchange with APRIL around these critical issues.

With best regards,

Marc Jessel Chief System Integrity Officer FSC Global Development GmbH **Finding 1**: Findings relating to the "public summary" of the FSC Baseline Analysis of APRIL Group published in November 2020

The baseline exercise conducted by FSC on APRIL covered the scope of the disassociation
defined by indirect involvement in the FSC Policy for Association version 2. The exercise did not
include third party suppliers as these suppliers are not part of the disassociation. The objective
of the baseline was to understand the quantification and where possible to qualify the Policy for
Association issues APRIL was involved in, as FSC did not have the opportunity to conduct an
investigation of the PfA allegations at the time of disassociation. This is because APRIL
withdrew its FSC certifications before this investigation took place.

Finding 2: Findings relating to the FSC's Remedy Framework as it relates to the APRIL Group

- Clarification of point 2.1: An organization must first end disassociation before pursuing full forest management certification.
- Clarification of point 2.3: The definition of corporate group is found in the FSC Policy for Association version 3 and AFI is the reference for this definition.

Finding 3: Findings relating to deforestation and practices of companies within the RGE Group's supply chain

• FSC takes note of these findings.

Finding 4: Findings relating to a new mega-scale pulp mill currently under construction on the island of Tarakan in north-eastern Kalimantan

• FSC takes note of these findings.

Finding 5: Findings relating to the RGE Group's links to woodchip, forestry, and pulp companies

- As part of the FSC remedy framework process with APRIL, FSC will conduct an assessment of the RGE corporate group according to the Policy for Association version 3 definition of corporate group and according to FSC's internal methodology for conducting corporate group assessments. FSC is currently working on the development of this methodology.
- The corporate group assessment conducted by FSC on RGE shall determine the scope of the FSC remedy framework.
- FSC takes note of EPN's findings on the relationship between RGE and BCL and PT Phoenix Resources International.

Inquiry regarding status of Djarum

- FSC conducted a proactive independent evaluation of significant conversion by members of the Djarum group of companies in 2019. FSC's assessment identified Policy for Association concerns which Djarum disputed at the time. Djarum withdrew its FSC certification.
- Within the coming weeks, FSC will be working on a statement for the Djarum case page to
 update stakeholders regarding the conclusions of the assessment and developments that have
 taken place since.

Inquiry on how FSC is managing future cases of organizations withdrawing certification to avoid Policy for Association concerns

• Learning from the APRIL case and more recent cases such as Djarum, version 4 of the procedure for processing PfA complaints provides new avenues for FSC to react to manoeuvres to avoid PfA allegations or consequences of PfA violations. For example, FSC can now complete



Page 1 of 4 Forest Stewardship Council®

PfA evaluations on organizations which have withdrawn certification, rather than these evaluations being abandoned or terminated. Further, under the new procedure, FSC can now move directly to convene an independent decision panel to take a decision on association without investigation where FSC has sufficient information to support this action. Previously, FSC could not move to a decision on association without conducting an investigation, no matter how strong the evidence of violation of the PfA.



Page 2 of 4

Forest Stewardship Council®

Appendix F. Parties presented with findings that did not provide comment

Eleven parties mentioned in the above analysis were shared a list of the report's findings and invited to provide comments that would be included in the report. Five of those parties responded, and their comments are integrated in the text and presented in full in the above appendices. From the remaining six parties, no responses were received. These parties are: The Royal Golden Eagle (RGE) Group, PT Balikpapan Chip Lestari, PT Phoenix Resources International, PT Adindo Hutani Lestari, PT Industrial Forest Plantation, and PT Fajar Surya Swadaya.











